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I am pleased to present the results of China Best Group Holding Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2012 on behalf of the board of directors of the Company
(the "Board”).

OPERATING RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group recorded a
turnover of approximately HK$151.4 million and a gross profit of
approximately HK$31.0 million. Loss attributable to shareholders
amounted to approximately HK$2.9 million, representing loss per share
of approximately HK0.12 cents. Contrasting to profit attributable to
shareholders of approximately HK$5.9 million in the corresponding
period last year, the Group turned from profit to loss during the year.
This was mainly due to the loss incurred for securities trading during the
year.

COAL BUSINESS

During the year, our coal business recorded a turnover of approximately
HK$95.0 million and a gross profit of approximately HK$27.9 million.
When compared to the corresponding period last year, there was a
year-on-year growth in both its turnover and gross profit for the year.
The growth was partially attributable to the suspension of few months
in operation of the coal business for equipment upgrading in the
previous year. This was also because coal demand and price stopped
from continued fall and came into a steady momentum which drove
improvement in the performance of our coal business.

FREIGHT FORWARDING BUSINESS

During the year, the performance of freight forwarding business was
maintained at a similar level as the corresponding period last year. Its
turnover and gross profit for the year was approximately HK$6.4 million
and HK$1.6 million respectively.
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SECURITIES INVESTMENT BUSINESS

During the year, due to a number of external factors, the Hong Kong
stock market was remarkably volatile. The Board endeavoured to reduce
the investment in this aspect and sell and realize part of our trading
securities at the upturn of the market conditions by pursuing a relatively
conservative investment strategy. Even that, the Group inevitably
recorded a realized loss of approximately HK$4.4 million and a net
unrealized losses of approximately HK$2.2 million. In addition, the listed
securities held by the Group as at 31 December 2012 were valued at
approximately HK$21.3 million.

Looking ahead to 2013, the global economy is going to be faced with
a number of uncertainties, which stems from the negative news on the
European and American debt crisis from time to time, the softer-than-
expected pace of economic recovery in the U.S. and Japan, plus the
slowdown in rate of economic growth in Mainland China. Therefore, the
Board estimates that the investment and business landscape will remain
challenging in the coming year.

In relation to business development, the manufacture and sales of coal in
Mainland China will continue to be the Group’s core business. Stepped
up efforts will be dedicated to reinforce the internal management
of the business, uplift operational efficiency, and create economic
benefits. Given the slowdown in market demand for coal from Mainland
China last year, the directors expect that coal demand will gradually
stabilise and maintain a steady growth in 2013. The Group will capture
development opportunities by staying ahead of the prevailing situation.
For freight forwarding business, the Board expects that there will be no
significant changes in the relevant strategy and plan.
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On front of securities investment business, the Board will stick to a
prudent principle. The Board’s investment strategy is to mainly focus
on investment vehicles of fixed rates or relatively lower risks, in order
to secure stable returns at minimal risks. In this light, on 31 January
2013, the Group conditionally agreed to subscribe for convertible bonds
and promissory notes to be issued by North Asia Resources Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)) (“North Asia”). The
aggregate principal amount of each of convertible bonds and promissory
notes amounted to US$7 million (equivalent to approximately HK$54.6
million). The Board is of the view that this subscription will enable
the Group to take part in the development of North Asia and provide
the Group with an opportunity to generate stable interest income
from the convertible bonds and promissory notes, while benefiting
from the potential increase in share price by converting part or all of
the convertible bonds into the shares of North Asia. The investment
constitutes a very substantial acquisition of the Company, and is subject
to shareholders’ approval at the special general meeting.

Last but not least, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend heartfelt
thanks to all employees and partners for their contribution to the
development of the Group as well as to shareholders of the Company
for their enduring support to the Group. In praise of their support, the
Group will unwaveringly strive for reaping more promising business
performance.

Huang Bogi
Chairman

Hong Kong, 5 March 2013
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS MBERE
Increase/(Decrease)
2012 Vs 2011
2012 2011 HK$'M %
HK$'M HK$'M —E-CHFR
—E-—-f _T——%F “E——FER(TRK)
BEER BEATT BEERT %
Financial Results Highlight MBEERE
Turnover R 151.4 190.5 (39.1) (21%)
Gross profit EF 31.0 7.2 23.8 331%
Other operating income (loss)(net) Bt U A (E518) CF5E) (2.7) 25.1 (27.8) (111%)
Total expenses Y H4ARE (19.2) (25.4) (6.2) (24%)
Net profit (loss) before tax & RINBRTIIE R FE1E IR M 2
non-controlling interests Al 2 a7 (E518) /558 9.2 6.8 2.4 35%
Net profit (loss) after tax & bR IE K IE R E S
non-controlling interests "B ZwM(E8) F5E (2.9) 5.9 (8.8) (149%)
Extract of Financial Position B 75 51RO B 8%
Total assets BERLE 447.8 466.0 (18.2) (4%)
Total liabilities BERE (90.9) (112.5) (21.6) (19%)
Net current assets MEEEFE 262.4 256.7 5.7 2%
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR KRS 236.3 302.8 (66.5) (22%)
Total net assets BEFEMEHE 356.8 353.5 3.3 1%
OVERVIEW BE
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1SN B A% B E (5 % F1)5,900,00078 7T ©

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group's turnover was
approximately HK$151.4 million, representing a decrease of 21% as
compared with HK$190.5 million in last year. The Group's gross profit
for the year ended 31 December 2012 was approximately HK$31.0
million, representing an increase of 331% as compared with HK$7.2
million in last year. Finally, the Group recorded loss attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company amounted to approximately HK$2.9
million, as compared with profit attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company of HK$5.9 million recorded in last year.




Coal Business

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the turnover of the Group’s coal
business amounted to HK$95.0 million (2011: HK$24.0 million). Gross
profit of HK$27.9 million was made for the year ended 31 December
2012 (2011: HK$2.1 million). The increase in turnover and gross profit
for the coal business was partly because the coal operation had just
resumed in the second half of 2011 and only few months’ results
had been accounted for in last year. It was also benefited from the
stabilisation in price and demand in the coal market.

Freight Forwarding Business

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the turnover of the Group’s
freight forwarding business amounted to HK$6.4 million (2011: HK$6.5
million). Gross profit of HK$1.6 million was made for the year ended 31
December 2012 (2011: HK$1.6 million). There was no significant change
in the Group’s strategy and plan in its freight forwarding business.
As such, its turnover and gross profit was kept at the similar level as
compared with last year.

Securities Investment Business

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the turnover of the Group’s
securities investment business amounted to HK$50.0 million (2011:
HK$159.9 million). During the year, the Group recorded realised loss
of HK$4.4 million (2011: realised gain of HK$24.3 million) and net
unrealised loss of the listed securities of approximately HK$2.2 million
(2011: HK$1.4 million). For the year ended 31 December 2012, the
Group received dividend income of approximately HK$1.5 million (2011:
HK$3.4 million). As at 31 December 2012, the Group was holding
trading securities of approximately HK$21.3 million in value (2011:
HK$27.9 million).
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LIQUIDITY AND CASH FLOW RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2012, the equity and net current assets of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$356.8 million (2011: HK$353.5 million)
and HK$262.4 million (2011: HK$256.7 million) respectively. On the
same date, the Group had bank balances and cash of approximately
HK$236.3 million (2011: HK$302.8 million) and the current ratio was
3.95(2011: 3.33).

As at 31 December 2012, the gearing ratio of the Group was 0.08
(2011: 0.10). The gearing ratio is measured on the basis of interest
bearing borrowings over total assets. As at 31 December 2012, the
interest bearing borrowings and total asset of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$36.5 million (2011: HK$44.3 million) and HK$447.8
million (2011: HK$466.0 million) respectively.

The Group kept strong cash position. The Group has sufficient and
readily available financial resources for both general working capital
purpose and feasible acquisition of potential investments in the PRC
which may encounter or contemplate in the future.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2012 and 2011, there were none of the Group’s
securities pledged to brokers to secure the margin loan. As at 31
December 2012 and 2011, there were no other significant assets
pledged to banks to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group.
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At 31 December 2012, the Group provided a financial guarantee of
approximately HK$63,000 (2011: HK$60,000) to an independent third
party for assurance of their customers in the event they default in
payment.

During the year, the Group incurred HK$4.1 million as capital
expenditure which was funded by its internal resources (2011: HK$0.2
million).

As at 31 December 2012, the capital expenditure in respect of
construction of property, plant and equipment contracted for but not
provided in the consolidated financial statements was approximately
HK$10,000 (2011: HK$500,000).

As at 31 December 2012, the Group held available-for-sale investments
of HK$7.5 million (2011: HK$7.5 million) and held for trading
investments of HK$21.3 million (2011: HK$27.9 million).

During the year ended 31 December 2012, there was no material
acquisition and disposal made by the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group acquired 55% of
the equity interest of Suntech Worldwide Limited which is the immediate
holding company of Gujiao City Hongxiang Coal Industry Co. Ltd.
("Hongxiang”). Details of this acquisition are set out note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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The Group’s monetary assets, loans and transactions are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, Singapore dollars, and
US dollars. During the year, there was no significant fluctuation in the
exchange rates of the Hong Kong dollars, Singapore dollars and US
dollars. The appreciation in the currency value of the Renminbi may
have some impact especially on the Group’s operation in the PRC. The
monetary assets of the Group in US dollars are also subject to the risk
of exchange rate fluctuation. The Group will take a prudent approach
for this impact but currently do not engage in any derivative activities
and not commit to any financial instruments to hedge its balance sheet
exposure.

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had approximately 92 staff (2011:
86 staff). The total staff cost incurred for the year ended 31 December
HK$6.7 million). The
remuneration of employees was determined with reference to the

2012 was approximately HK$6.5 million (2011:

market circumstances, the Group’s performance as well as individual
qualification and experience. Pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), the staff of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function have adequate
training programs and budget.

Pursuant to a share option scheme adopted on 22 May 2012 (the “2012
Share Option Scheme”), the Board may grant options to directors
(including non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors), employees of the Company and any of its subsidiaries or
associated companies, to subscribe for shares of the Company. During
the year, no options were granted under the 2012 Share Option
Scheme.

The Group is principally engaged in manufacture and sales of coal,
international air and sea freight forwarding and the provision of logistics
services as well as trading of securities.

In respect of coal business, after the slowing down in demand for coal
in the PRC market last year, the Board expects that the demand for coal
will gradually stabilise and maintain a steady growth in 2013. Hongxiang
continues to be the Group’s principal arm in coal sector. Hongxiang
will keep on enhancing its customer and supplier bases, improving its
production efficiency as well as its internal control system, in order to
boost its contribution in terms of profitability to the Group.
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In respect of freight forwarding business, although in the second half
of 2012 the global economy started heading to a right direction, there
was no substantial recovery in the global air and sea freight forwarding
industry. The Board remains unenthusiastic about the prospect of freight
forwarding business and will take strict control measures over costs and
credit risks.

In respect of securities investment business, the Board will uphold a
relatively conservative strategy. The Board’s investment strategy is to
mainly focus on investment vehicles of fixed rates or relatively lower risks
in order to secure stable returns at minimal risks. As such, the Group
has conditionally agreed to subscribe for the convertible bonds and
the promissory notes to be issued by North Asia, each in an aggregate
principal amount of US$7 million (equivalent to approximately HK$54.6
million). The Board considers that it would enable the Company to
participate in the development of North Asia and provide the Company
with the flexibility to be benefited from the interest income from the
convertible bonds and the promissory notes as well as the upside of the
share price performance of North Asia through conversion of part or
whole of the convertible bonds into shares of North Asia.

Leveraging its experience and network in the PRC, the Group will
continue to explore investment opportunities mainly for business
development in the PRC. The Board is convinced that it is the
fundamental basis on which the Company generates and preserves alue
over the longer term and the strategy for delivering the objectives of the
Company. The Board will closely monitor the business environment for
the aim to maximise the returns of the shareholders of the Company.

The Board has resolved not to recommend any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2012 (2011: Nil).

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
16 May 2013 to Monday, 20 May 2013 (both days inclusive), during
which time no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify to
be shareholders of the Company to attend, act and vote at the annual
general meeting to be held on 20 May 2013, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Tengis Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 15 May 2013.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the year ended 31
December 2012 (2011: Nil).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Audit Committee in accordance with
the Listing Rules. The Committee comprises Mr. Zhou Mingchi, Ms.
Wong Yan Ki, Angel and Mr. Zhang Liang, the three independent
non-executive directors. Summary of duties and works of the Audit
Committee is set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” of this
annual report.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group's consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 in conjunction with
the Company’s external auditor, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICE/CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE OF
THE LISTING RULES

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Company has fully
complied with the code provisions (“Code Provisions”) of the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (effective until 31 March 2012) and
Corporate Governance Code (effective from 1 April 2012) as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, with deviation from code provisions
A.2.1, A.4.1 and A.6.7. Details of the Company’s corporate governance
are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this
annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for maintaining the Group's
internal control system to safeguard shareholders’ investment and
reviewing the effectiveness of such on an annual basis under Code
Provision C.2.1.
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in the
Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2012.

The manners in which the principles and Code Provisions in the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (effective until 31 March 2012) and
Corporate Governance Code (effective from 1 April 2012) (referred to as
the “CG Code” hereafter) contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules
are applied and implemented are explained in the following parts of this
Corporate Governance Report:

The Group strives to attain and maintain high standards of corporate
governance to enhance shareholder value and safeguard shareholder
interests. The Group’s corporate governance principles emphasize
a quality Board, effective internal control and accountability to
shareholders.

The Board believes that good corporate governance practices are
increasingly important for maintaining and promoting shareholder value
and investor confidence.

The CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules sets out the
principles of good corporate governance (“Principles”) and two levels of
corporate governance practices:

(@) code provisions which listed issuers are expected to comply with or
to give considered reasons for any deviation; and

(b) recommended best practices for guidance only, which listed issuers
are encouraged to comply with or give considered reasons for
deviation.
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The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles, code provisions and certain recommended best practices as
set out in the CG Code.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2012, the Company has
complied with the code provisions set out in the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices for the period from 1 January 2012 up to 31
March 2012 and the CG Code for the period from 1 April 2012 to 31
December 2012, save for the deviations from code provisions A.2.1,
A.4.1 and A.6.7 which are explained in the relevant paragraphs in this
report.

The Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business and to
review its corporate governance practices from time to time to ensure
they comply with the CG Code and align with the latest developments of
the Group.

Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the
Board, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All directors should
take decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board sets policy direction and approves strategies/operational plans
to ensure effective functioning and growth of the Company, in the
interests of all shareholders.

Every director shall ensure that he/she carries out his/her duty in
good faith and in compliance with the standards of applicable laws
and regulations, and acts in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders at all times.
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The Board undertakes responsibility for decision making in major
matters of the Company, including: the approval and monitoring of
all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions (in particular those
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with a view to
ensuring that Board's procedures and all applicable rules and regulations
are followed.

Each director is normally able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making
request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the executive directors and the senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by the abovementioned officers.

The Board has the full support of the executive directors and the senior
management to discharge its responsibility.

The composition of the Board ensures a balance of skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company and to
the exercising of independent judgment.

The Board currently comprises 5 members, consisting of 2 executive
directors and 3 independent non-executive directors. Members of the
Board are unrelated to one another.
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The list of all directors is set out under the section of “Corporate
Information” on page 2 and all corporate communications issued by
the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time. The
independent non-executive directors are expressly identified in all
corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive director of his/her independence pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive directors to be independent in accordance
with the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

All directors, including independent non-executive directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functions.
Independent non-executive directors are invited to serve on the Audit,
Nomination and Remuneration Committees of the Company.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of directors are laid down in the Company’s Bye-laws. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of directors, monitoring the appointment and succession
planning of directors and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive directors. Details of the Nomination Committee and its
works performed during the year are set out in the “Board Committees”
section below.
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In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, all directors of the
Company are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years and any new director appointed to fill a causal vacancy or as an
addition to the Board shall submit himself/herself for re-election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment.

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.

Although the non-executive directors are not appointed for a specific
term, pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, all directors of the Company
are subject to retirement by rotation once every three years and eligible
for re-election at the annual general meeting, and any new director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall submit himself/herself for re-
election by shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment.

Each newly appointed director receives a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment, so as
to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and that he/she is fully aware of his/
her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements.

During the year, the directors received regular updates and
presentations on changes and developments to the Group's business
and to the legislative and regulatory environments in which the Group
operates. All directors are also encouraged to attend relevant training
courses. Effective from April 2012, all Directors are required to provide
the Company with his or her training record on a yearly basis. During the
year, each of Mr. Huang Bogi, Mr. Du Chunyu, Mr. Zhou Mingchi, Ms.
Wong Yan Ki, Angel and Mr. Zhang Liang participated in appropriate
continuous professional development activities by ways of attending
training or reading materials relevant to the Company’s business or to
directors’ duties and responsibilities.
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Meetings
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

During the year, regular Board meetings were held for reviewing and
approving the financial and operating performance, and considering
and approving the overall strategies and policies of the Company. Most
important resolutions agreed in Board meeting had already been made
by all directors including both executive and independent non-executive
directors.

No Risk Management Committee meeting was held for the year ended
31 December 2012.

The attendance records of each director at the meetings of the
shareholders, the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee during the year are set out below:
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Meetings Attended/Eligible to Attend

Audit  Remuneration Nomination
Name of Directors Shareholders Board Committee Committee Committee
BiifE/AERLEZEH
EEpg IR Ezg #iTZES FMzES REZEE
Huang Bogi Hing n 5/5  Not Applicable i i
NiEfA
Du Chunyu H&ES 01 5/5  Not Applicable /1 Not Applicable
TEA TEA
Zhou Mingchi A 0n 5/5 2/2 11 1/1
Wong Yan Ki, Angel ERE 01 5/5 212 171 11
Zhang Liang Ron 0N 5/5 212 11 11
Under Code Provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, the independent non- RIFEMESTE|Z SFRIEXEA6.71E » B 3E

executive directors and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders. One executive director and all independent non-executive
directors of the Company were unable to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 22 May 2012 due to various work
commitments.
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Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors at least 14
days before the meetings. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least 3 days before each Board
meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors apprised of the
latest developments and financial position of the Company and to
enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each director
also have separate and independent access to the senior management
whenever necessary.

The Chairman and the Company Secretary attend almost all regular
Board meetings and when necessary, other Board and committee
meetings to advise on business developments, financial and accounting
matters, statutory compliance, corporate governance and other major
aspects of the Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible to keep minutes of all Board
meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable period of time
after each meeting and the final version is open for directors’ inspection.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction, which
involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a director,
will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board
meeting.

The Company’s Bye-laws also contain provisions requiring directors to
abstain from voting (or not be counted in the quorum) at meetings for
approving transactions in which such directors or any of their associates
have material interest.
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Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman
and chief executive should be clearly established and set out in writing.
Mr. Huang is the chairman of the Board. The Company has no such
title as the chief executive officer currently. Given the current size and
structure of the Company, the Board is of the view that though there is
no chief executive officer, the balance of power and authority is ensured
by the operation of the Board, which comprises experienced individuals,
and meetings between the directors and the management are held from
time to time to discuss issues relating to operation of the Company. The
Board also believes that the current structure is conducive to strong and
consistent leadership, enabling the Company to make and implement
decisions promptly and efficiently.

The Board has established four committees, namely Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Risk Management Committee for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with defined written terms of reference. Save for the
Risk Management Committee, the terms of reference of other Board
committees are made available to shareholders on the websites of
the Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(http://www.cbgroup.com.hk) respectively.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses.
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The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors, namely Ms. Wong Yan Ki, Angel, Mr. Zhou Mingchi and Mr.
Zhang Liang. Among the committee members, one of them possesses
the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. None of the members of the Audit
Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing external
auditors.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@) To review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, internal auditor (if
any) or external auditors before submission to the Board;

(b) To review the relationship with the external auditors by
reference to the work performed by the auditors, their fees and
terms of engagement, their independence and objectivity, and
make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditors; and

() To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system,
management system and associated procedures.

internal control system and risk

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year to review the
half-yearly and annual financial results and reports, financial reporting
and compliance procedures, report on the Company’s internal control
and risk management review and processes and the re-appointment of
the external auditors.

The attendance records of the Audit Committee are set out under the
section of “Meetings” in this report.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2012 has
been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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The Nomination Committee comprises one executive director and three
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Huang Bogi, Mr. Zhou
Mingchi, Ms. Wong Yan Ki, Angel and Mr. Zhang Liang.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

e To review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
make recommendations regarding any proposed changes;

e  To develop and formulate relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of directors and senior management;

e  To identify suitable candidates for appointment as directors and
senior management;

e  To make recommendations to the Board on appointment or re-
appointment of and succession planning for directors and senior
management; and

e To assess the independence of the independent non-executive
directors.

The Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting and
recommending candidates for directorships and senior management
by making reference to the skills, experience, professional knowledge,
personal integrity and time commitments of such individuals, the
Company’s needs and other relevant statutory requirements and
regulations. An external recruitment agency may be engaged to carry
out the recruitment and selection process when necessary.

The Nomination Committee held a meeting during the year to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board and made
recommendations to the Board in accordance with the Nomination
Committee’s written terms of reference.

In accordance with the clause 87(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Du
Chunyu and Mr. Zhang Liang will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Board recommended the re-appointment of the directors standing
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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The Remuneration Committee comprises two executive directors and
three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Zhou Mingchi,
Ms. Wong Yan Ki, Angel, Mr. Zhang Liang, Mr. Huang Bogi and Mr. Du
Chunyu. The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations on and approving the remuneration policy
and structure and remuneration packages of the executive directors
and the senior management. The Remuneration Committee is also
responsible for establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no director or any of
his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration,
which remuneration will be determined by reference to the individual
performance and the operating results of the Company as well as the
market conditions and practice.

The Remuneration Committee normally meets for reviewing the
remuneration policy and structure and determination of the annual
remuneration packages of the executive directors and the senior
management and other related matters when needs arise. The Human
Resources Division is responsible for collection and administration
of the human resources data and making recommendations to the
Remuneration Committee for consideration. The Remuneration
Committee shall consult the Chairman and/or the Board about
these recommendations on remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages.

The Remuneration Committee held a meeting during the year to review
remuneration packages of the directors and the senior management
and made recommendation to the Board in accordance with the
Remuneration Committee’s written terms of reference.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

Particulars of directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 December
2012 as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing
Rules are set out in note 12(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration of the senior management is less than HK$1,000,000
for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011.
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The Risk Management Committee comprises two executive directors
and three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Huang
Bogi, Mr. Du Chunyu, Mr. Zhou Mingchi, Ms. Wong Yan Ki, Angel, and
Mr. Zhang Liang. The Risk Management Committee primarily focuses on
raising the level of management awareness of, and accountability for
the business risks faced by the Group’s business operations. In meeting
its responsibilities, the Committee seeks to put in place policies and
procedures to provide a framework for identification and management
of risks.

The Risk Management Committee normally meets for prioritizing and
accelerating those risk management strategies that are critical to the
advancement of the Group’s objectives and ensuring that sufficient
resources and appropriate level of support from the management are
allocated. The Risk Management Committee shall consult the Chairman
and/or the senior management of the Company about the effectiveness
of their recommendations and escalate to the Board of any risks relating
to material transactions in the ordinary course of business and unusual
transactions beyond the scope of principal business activities of the
Group.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
as set out in the terms of reference equivalent to Code Provision D.3.1 of
the CG Code. During the year, the policies of the corporate governance
of the Company were reviewed by the Board in the Board meetings. In
March 2012, certain new and revised policies were adopted by the Board
to cope with the amendments in the Listing Rules and the CG Code.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has been made of all directors and
the directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2012.
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The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2012.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Company with a view to ensuring that such financial
statements give a true and fair view and that relevant statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards are complied with.

The management of the Company provides such explanation and
information to the Board so as to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the financial information and position of the Company
which was put to the Board for approval.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set
out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on page 40.

An analysis of the remuneration of the Company’s auditors, SHINEWING
(HK) CPA Limited, for the year ended 31 December 2012 is set out as
follows:

Audit services ZE RS
Interim review services BRI AR A%
Other ad-hoc assignments HMARIIE
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Under Code Provision C.2.1, the Board is responsible for maintaining an
adequate internal control system to safeguard shareholders’ investments
and the Company’s assets, and reviewing the effectiveness of such on an
annual basis.

The internal control system of the Group is designed to facilitate
effective and efficient operations, to ensure reliability of financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations, to
identify and manage potential risks and to safeguard assets of the
Group.

During the year, the Board and the Audit Committee had discussed and
reviewed the internal control system and the relevant proposal made by
senior management in order to ensure an adequate and effective system
of internal control. The Board believes that the existing internal control
system is adequate and effective.

The key elements of the Group’s internal control system include the
following:

o the organizational structure is clearly defined with distinct lines of
authority and control responsibilities;

o a comprehensive financial accounting system has been established
to provide for performance measurement indicators and to ensure
compliance with relevant rules;

o the senior management shall prepare annual plans on financial
reporting, operations and compliance aspects by reference to
potential significant risks;

o unauthorized expenditures and release of confidential information
are strictly prohibited;

o specific approval by executive director prior to commitment is
required for all material matters; and

o the management shall review and evaluate the control process and
monitor any risk factors on a regular basis and report to the Audit
Committee on any findings and measures to address the variances
and identified risks.
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The Company Secretary, Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho, is responsible for
facilitating the Board process, as well as communications among Board
members, with shareholders and management. Mr. Chan’s biography is
set out in the “Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 29
to 30. During the year, Mr. Chan undertook not less than 15 hours of
professional training to update his skills and knowledge.

The Company believes that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Group also
recognises the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information which enables shareholders and investors to make
a properly informed investment decision.

The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships
with its investors. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner. Investors may write directly to the
Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong for any
inquiries.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.cbgroup.com.hk, where extensive information and updates
on the Company’s business developments and operations, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information are
available for public access.

The Board confirmed that, during the year, there were no significant
changes made to the Company’s Bye-laws affecting its operations and
reporting practices.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Under the Company’s Bye-laws, the Board, on the requisition of
shareholders of the Company holding not less than 10% of the paid-
up capital of the Company by sending a written notice to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong, shall convene a special general meeting to address specific
issues of the Company within 21 days from the date of deposit of
written notice. The same requirement and procedure also applies to any
proposal to be tabled at shareholders’ meetings for adoption.

Specific enquiries by shareholders requiring the Board's attention can be
sent in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong.

In addition, the Company maintains contact with its shareholders
through annual general meetings or other general meetings, and
encourages shareholders to attend those meetings.

Notice of general meeting is sent by mail to the registered shareholders
of the Company. Agenda and resolutions are set out in the notice of
general meeting. A proxy form for use at a general meeting is enclosed
with the notice. Shareholders who do not intend or are unable to be
present at the meeting should fill out the form and return the same to
the share registrar and transfer office of the Company, so as to appoint
a representative, another shareholder or the chairman of the meeting as
their proxy.
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Mr. Huang Boqi (“Mr. Huang")

Mr. Huang, aged 47, obtained his Bachelor degree in Engineering at
Southern China University of Technology, the PRC in 1987 and further
obtained a Master degree in Economics from Jiangxi University of
Finance and Economics in 1999. He was an executive director and
interlocking chief executive officer of Goldmond Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 8190) from 2005 to 2010. He has over 16 years experience
in sales and operations management, corporate finance and merger
and acquisition transactions. He also has experience in the field of
information technology and electronics industries as well as mining
industry.

Mr. Du Chunyu (“Mr. Du”)

Mr. Du, aged 52, received a Doctor degree in Business Administration at
the Shanghai Jiao Tong University and an Executive Master of Business
Administration degree at Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business.
He is a director of a logistic company which was set up in the PRC.
Specializing in the logistics of dangerous goods for years, he is an expert
in the logistics of dangerous goods and supply chain management in the
PRC. He is a committee member of the fifth commission of the China
Federation of Logistics and Purchasing.

Mr. Zhou Mingchi (“Mr. Zhou")
Mr. Zhou, aged 53, is a senior mining engineer and has extensive
experience in coal mining industry over 26 years. He received his
Bachelor degree in Mining from Hebei Mining Industry College. He is
currently the deputy head of the Shanxi Branch of Hefei Design and
Research Institute of Coal Industry.
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Mr. Wong Yan Ki, Angel ("Ms. Wong")

Ms. Wong, aged 41, obtained a Bachelor degree of Arts in International
Accounting from Xiamen University, a Post-Graduate Certificate in
Professional Accounting from the City University of Hong Kong and a
Master degree of Business Administration from Cheung Kong Graduate
School of Business. Ms. Wong is a fellow member of the Institute of
Financial Accountants, a full member of the Society of Registered
Planners and a full member of the Singapore Institute of Directors.

Ms. Wong has extensive experience in the accounting, consultancy and
investment industry. Ms. Wong is also an independent non-executive
director of Oriental Unicorn Agricultural Group Limited, a company listed
on the GEM board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8120).

Mr. Zhang Liang (“Mr. Zhang")

Mr. Zhang, aged 60, has extensive experience in coal industry over 16
years. He received his Master degree from Dongbei University of Finance
and Economics. He is currently the President of The Coal Bed Methane
Industry Association of Shanxi Province (I 7a& EBRITE%HE) and the
Chairman of Zhaohui Industry Investment Fund Management Limited
GREEXKREESEERA).

Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho (“Mr. Chan”)

Mr. Chan, aged 46, is the chief financial officer and company secretary
of the Company since July 2011. Mr. Chan obtained a Master degree
in Business Administration from the University of Manchester in 2003
and a Bachelor degree in Business Administration from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1989. Mr. Chan is a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2003. In the
past twenty years, Mr. Chan was the finance director, financial controller
and company secretary of several listed companies in Hong Kong.
He is currently an independent non-executive director of Eagle Nice
(International) Holdings Limited, a company listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2368).
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The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in notes 33, 34, 35, 36 and 44,
respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2012 are set
out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 42
of the annual report.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of movements in the investment property of the Group during
the year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2012, in the opinion of the directors, the Company
had no reserves available for distribution to shareholders (2011: Nil).
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Huang Bogqi (Chairman)
Mr. Du Chunyu (Deputy Chairman)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Mingchi
Ms. Wong Yan Ki, Angel
Mr. Zhang Liang

In accordance with the clause 87(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Du
Chunyu and Mr. Zhang Liang will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

None of the directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has any service contract which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The term of office of each independent non-executive director is the
period up to his/her retirement by rotation in accordance with the
Company’s Bye-laws.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the
independent non-executive directors are still independent.
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As at 31 December 2012, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executives and their associates in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company and its associated corporations as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO") or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies, were
as follows:

Long Position in shares and underlying shares of
the Company

Name of Director Capacity

EEfE 8

Mr. Huang Bogi Interest in a controlled corporation

=iRELLE

e VNI b

Note: 626,161,600 shares are held by Fortune Ever Investments Limited (“Fortune

Ever”) which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Capital Lane Holdings Limited
("Capital Lane”). The entire issued share capital of Capital Lane is held by Mr.
Huang Boqi. Therefore, by virtue of the SFO, Mr. Huang Bogi is deemed to be
interested in all the shares held by Fortune Ever.

Save as disclosed above and other than certain nominee shares in
subsidiaries held by directors in trust for the Company or its subsidiaries,
as at 31 December 2012, none of the directors and chief executives, nor
their associates, had any interests or short positions in any shares and
underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations.

Interest in shares
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SHARE OPTIONS BB B 1E
(a) 2002 Share Option Scheme (a) —EZT_FERETE
A share option scheme (the “2002 Share Option Scheme”) was AR -—EZE-F=FH+ )\ BEMAEE
adopted by the Company on 18 March 2002. The 2002 Share %‘i-iU(f_? E-FBEREE]) o —F
Option Scheme expired on 17 March 2012. Upon the expiry of the —FEEREAEZER =T ——F=At++t
2002 Share Option Scheme, no further options would be granted EI F”ﬁ T EE-—FHEREIZER
under the 2002 Share Option Scheme but the options granted prior % KRB TBRE_ST - FHRME
to such expiry continued to be valid and exercisable in accordance FrEIHERE - X EMB AR - B
with provision of the 2002 Share Option Scheme. Particulars ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂé{)}%ﬁ*&&—ﬁﬂﬁﬁ_? EFRE
of the 2002 Share Option Scheme are set out in note 32 to the PR ZIRIE T - —EE _FHEIRE
consolidated financial statements. RN BHRN A BRRWFEI2A -
The following table discloses movements of the share options TEREE-ZSTFHEREEITERE
under the 2002 Share Option Scheme during the year: RERZEH :
Surrendered/
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding
asat during during during as at
Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price 1.1.2012 the year the year theyear  31.12.2012
RZB-Z% R=B-Zf%
-fA-A FRXE/ +ZA=+-8
RHAE figid: g MR ERRd ERfTE & MARTHE
Other eligible persons  5.10.2004 5.10.2004 t0 5.10.2014 0.3170 5,618,729 - - - 5,618,729
EAERAT ZIINF “EIINETARAE
TAEA “Z-METALRA
26.9.2005 26.9.2005 10 25.9.2015 0.3695 67,649,498 - - - 67,649,498
—EZnf “ETRENAZTRAE
piY; Ik ez “Z-RFAACTEA
20.8.2007 20.8.2007 10 20.8.2017 0.6275 27,194,648 - - - 27,194,648
ZEEtE ZERtEN\AZTHE
NAZ1A “E-tE\AZTH
7.9.2007 7.9.2007 10 7.9.2017 0.6850 13,484,949 - - - 13,484,949
ZERLE “EEHENALAZ
hAtHE ZEtENALH
28.9.2007 28.9.2007 10 28.9.2017 0.7385 4,494,983 - - - 4,494,983
ZR%tF ZETLENAZTN\RE
AAZTNB ZT—tFNAAZTNR
Total 118,442,807 - - - 118442807
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(b) 2012 Share Option Scheme

The 2012 Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to a
resolution on 22 May 2012 (the “Effective Date”). The purposes
of the 2012 Share Option Scheme are to attract and retain the
best available personnel and to provide additional incentives or
rewards to employees, directors, consultants, business associates
and advisers of the Company for their contribution to the Company
and to promote our success. The 2012 Share Option Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing on the
Effective Date. The terms of the 2012 Share Option Scheme are in
compliance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Eligible participants of the 2012 Share Option Scheme include the
following persons:

(a) any employee or proposed employee (whether full time or
part time) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity
in which any member of the Group holds any equity interest;

(b) any directors, non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any entity in which any member of the Group
holds any equity interest;

(c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group
or any entity in which any member of the Group holds any
equity interest;

(d) any customer of the Group or any of entity in which any
member of the Group holds any equity interest;

(e) any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to the Group or any entity in
which any member of the Group holds any equity interest;

(f)  any shareholder of or holder of any securities issued by any
member of the Group or any entity in which any member of
the Group holds any equity interest;

(g) any other group or classes of persons or entities from time to
time determined by the Board as having contributed or may
contribute to by way of joint venture, business alliances or
other business arrangements to the development and growth
of the Group; and

(h) any company wholly owned by one or more person belonging
to any of the above (a) to (g) participants.
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The total number of shares of the Company available for issue
under the 2012 Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the Effective Date. The
maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise of the options
which may be granted under the 2012 Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group (including both
exercised and outstanding options) to each participant (other than
a substantial shareholder, chief executive or director as explained
below) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue from time to time. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a connected person (as defined under
the Listing Rules), are subject to approval by the independent non-
executive directors of the Company (excluding any independent
non-executive director who is the grantee of the options). Where
any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any
of their respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules)
would result in the Company’s shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person(s) in
the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
(a) representing in aggregate over 0.10 per cent of the Company’s
shares in issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of each grant, in
excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of options is subject to
approval by the shareholders of the Company in compliance with
the Listing Rules.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted in writing by
a participant within 21 days from the date of offer upon payment
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 by the grantee. The exercise
period for the share options granted is determined by the Board,
which period shall not be more than 10 years from the date of
offer.
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The amount payable of each share to be subscribed for under
an option in the event of the option being exercised shall be
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion and must be at
least the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant (which
must be a business day);

(ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of the shares.

No option has been granted under the 2012 Share Option Scheme up to
the date of this report.

At no time during the year was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries,
a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

No contracts of significance, to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

As at 31 December 2012, the interests and short positions of the
following persons other than the directors or chief executive of the
Company, in the Company’s shares which fall to be disclosed to the
Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and which
have been recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO:
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B
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EEEHRE

Percentage of
the Company'’s

Name Capacity Interest in shares issued share capital

EARA RS BT

=z 14 R Rz BREBDE

Capital Lane Interest in a controlled corporation 626,161,600 25.75%
(Note 1)

sl o m s (M)

Fortune Ever Beneficial owner (Note 1) 626,161,600 25.75%
BEmEA A

Great Soar Holdings Beneficial owner (Note 2) 321,875,000 13.24%
Limited(” Great Soar”)

BAERBRAT EmEa AMEE2)
(s&E1)

Ms. Yuen Sze Man Interest in a controlled corporation 321,875,000 13.24%

(Note 2)
RETHE T SRS A Rl (HEE2)
Notes: B E

(1) 626,161,600 shares are held by Fortune Ever which is a wholly owned subsidiary (1)  Fortune Ever 3 4 626,161,600 i % {7 + I /&

of Capital Lane. The entire issued share capital of Capital Lane is held by Mr. Capital Lanez 2 &M E A ] ° Capital Lane2#E
Huang Bogi. By virtue of the SFO, Capital Lane is deemed to be interested in all BOOBRABFEBEBEERE - KBRESFRIFEK
the shares held by Fortune Ever. Bl - Capital Lanefi#% A#E A Fortune EverfiT#5 2 &6

Befn 2 tezs o

(2) 321,875,000 shares are held by Great Soar. The entire issued share capital of ~ (2) 321,875,000/ RN EEIEFIFHE  BAZHEHIT
Great Soar is held by Ms. Yuen Sze Man. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Yuen Sze Man ARG LLHE - RREFLBAERD -
is deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Great Soar. RS THWEREEBRAFMF 2 RN 2R -

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any B EXFIHEEEIN - RZET—ZF+ =4
other relevant interests or short position in the issued share capital of the ~=+—H + KRB W THMEBER AR T EEHTR
Company as at 31 December 2012. RZAEME AR SR A o




The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
year is as follows:

The largest customer AR

Five largest customers in aggregate AARFAR
The largest supplier BAHFERE

Five largest suppliers in aggregate ARHEEEER

At no time during the year, have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which, to the knowledge of the directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-
laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Based on the information available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float throughout the year ended 31 December 2012 and as at the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2012 have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, the auditors
of the Company, who retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-appointment in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Huang Bogqi

CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong, 5 March 2013

TN ABRETEFEFPREEREAKSEEER
RERBENENIEIIMT

Percentage of
the Group’s total

Purchases Sales
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- 72%

- 91%
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79% -
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SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43[F., The Lee Gardens

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

faikPAa

Shine‘ZOan

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA BEST GROUP HOLDING LIMITED
BEREZRERAF

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Best
Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 42 to 135 which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2012, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to
the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2012, and of
the Group's profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Ip Yu Chak

Practising Certificate Number: P04798

Hong Kong
5 March 2013
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e ZEBER

For the year ended 31 December 2012 &

2-F—

—FEF - A=+—HILFE

2012 2011
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-—F —E——%F
b FET FHET
Turnover e 7 151,353 190,533
Revenue U z5 8 102,941 34,044
Cost of sales SHE A (71,897) (26,831)
Gross profit EF 31,044 7,213
Other income E AU A 9 2,854 1,717
Selling and distribution expenses HERSHEYTE (729) (151)
Administrative expenses THXH (16,063) (24,549)
Fair value change on investment property &Y%~ FEE 1,080 420
Realised (loss) gain on held for trading HEXGIRE 7D #
investments (Bi8) ke (4,416) 24,359
Fair value change on held for trading BIEXHEREZ
investments N EE (2,233) (1,423)
Finance costs B & Bk N 10 (2,376) (734)
Profit before tax B F BT ) 11 9,161 6,852
Income tax expense FrisfiFA X 13 (6,604) (1,231)
Profit for the year F R 2,557 5,621
Other comprehensive income (expense) E#2EUA (ZH)
Exchange differences arising on translation & #FE A+ 2 [E H =58 684 124
Exchange reserve upon disposal of HERBARIEZ
subsidiaries b 3 - (340)
Total comprehensive income FREEMBALLE
for the year 3,241 5,405




For the year ended 31 December 2012 BE=—F——F+=—H=+—HIFZF

2012 2011
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-—F —F——%F
M T FHET FET
(Loss) profit for the year FR(EE)ENH
attributable to: THFBERELY -
Owners of the Company AATEEA (2,932) 5,896
Non-controlling interests FEER RS 5,489 (275)
2,557 5,621
Total comprehensive (expense) income 2 (X H)WALFEH
attributable to: THFIFEN -
Owners of the Company AATEE A (2,472) 5,679
Non-controlling interests FEIERERS 5,713 (274)
3,241 5,405
(Loss) earnings per share BR(ER)ER 15

- Basic and diluted (HK cents) —EARRE#E (B (0.12) centsAil 0.27 centsfll]
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
4R e B IS AR R R

As at 31 December 2012 R=-F——F+_-H=+—H

2012 2011
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-—F —T——F
MIsE FExT FHT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Yz BB RF 16 52,204 53,228
Prepaid lease payment EfHEE 17 178 202
Investment property REE 18 - 1,920
Available-for-sale investments HEHRE 19 7,500 7,500
Goodwill HES 20 36,729 36,365
96,611 99,215
Current assets mEEE
Prepaid lease payment EHEE 17 24 24
Inventories & 21 21,439 3,198
Trade and other receivables JE UK R SR e L b R U SRIE 22 69,074 32,466
Held for trading investments BIEXSIRE 23 21,272 27,956
Deposits placed with security brokers TFHRBELLITTZIER 24 - 355
Bank balances and cash RITEH LIRS 25 236,345 302,883
348,154 366,882
Investment property classified as DEABEREZIREME
held for sale 26 3,000 -
351,154 366,882
Current liabilities mEAE
Trade and other payables JET RN N E b B S 3R B 27 36,992 58,778
Loan from a related company BENRER 28 - 23,346
Loan from a non-controlling ME R B IR E R SR
interest of a subsidiary 29 38,637 21,125
Tax liabilities HEaE 13,168 6,870
88,797 110,119
Net current assets MENEEFE 262,357 256,763

358,968

355,978
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
4ra B IS AR R R

As at 31 December 2012 R=—F——F+_-H=+—H

2012 2011
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-—F —E——%F
B &E FET FHT
Capital and Reserves AR R fE
Share capital %N 31 121,584 121,584
Reserves B 222,141 224,613
Equity attributable to owners of RABHEE AEEER
the Company 343,725 346,197
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR REES 13,091 7,378
Total Equity s imE 356,816 353,575
Non-current liability ERBAE
Deferred tax liabilities FERIEEE 30 2,152 2,403
358,968 355,978

The consolidated financial statements on pages 42 to 135 were 428 F135B VG MBREECHR _E—=
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 5 March &= R H&EES S ERSETIZE - WH T

2013 and are signed on its behalf by: FIRKEE :
Huang Boqi Du Chunyu
g (=) HEM
Director Director

EF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2012 HE=—F——F+=—HA=+—HIFZF

Share Non-
Share Share Contributed Translation ~ options  Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  surplus  reserve  reserve losses Total interests Total
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

(Note i)
Bx  ROEE HABR  RERG ERERE ZHER @i FERESR @t
T Thr Tt Th T Tin T i Thr

iED)
At 1 January 2011 RZF--%-8-A 105,490 268,489 1,99 (182) 41,749 (102,774) 314,768 @n 31474
Profit (oss) for the year ERiET (B8 = = = = = 589 589 (275) 5,621
Other comprehensive (expense) EREMRE(ET)RA
income for the year
Exchange differences arising on BEREEVERER
translation - - - 217) - - 217) 341 124
Exchange reserve upon disposal HERBARZELEE
of subsidiaries - - - - - - - (340) (340)
Total comprehensive (expense) income  ER2E (XA L5
for the year - - - 217 = 5,896 5,679 (274) 5405
Issue of shares for acquisition BlERELAMEIRA
of subsidiaries (Note 33) (BizE33) 16,094 9,656 - - - - T 7679 33429
Effect of share options lapsed BARERE T2 = = = - (10617) 10617 - - -
At 31 December 2011 3

tZR=1+-H 121,584 278,145 1,996 (399) 31132 (86,261) 346,197 7378 353575




For the year ended 31 December 2012 H{E=—F——4F+ A =+—HIFZF

Share Non-
Share Share Contributed Translation ~ Statutory ~ options Accumulated controlling
capital ~ premium  surplus  reserve  reserve  reserve losses Total interests Total
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
(Note ) (Note i)
ke ROEE SRR BERG  iRRE BREGE ZREB B FERER Eh
Tin T Thn Thn Tién T Thn Tin Tién T
i) (W3Ei)
At 1 January 2012 RZE-ZF
-A-R 121,584 278,145 1,996 (399) - 31132 (86,261) 346,197 1378 353,575
(Loss) profit for the year En(EE) &k = = = - - - 93 29 5,489 2557
Other comprehensive income A2 EMA
for the year
Exchange differences arising ~ HEEEL,
on translation EiZR = - - 460 - - - 460 24 684
Total comprehensive income ~ ERZEMA (X H)

(expense) for the year ek - - - 460 - - (2932) (2472) 5,713 3,241
Transfers to statutory reserve  ERAZETHA - - - - 817 - (817) - - -
At 31 December 2012 g

TZA=1-H 121,584 278,145 1,99 61 817 31132 (90,010) 343,725 13,091 356,316
Note i: The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference between  [iifi: ZNEEZHABBIERDTRONR—NLANE
the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the EBEBHMERIBR AR ER EMAT - R
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main Board BHEMKENRE AR ZROEERERIRM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in 1996 and the nominal value of BAOZARRRNEEZERE ©
the Company’s shares issued in exchange.
Note ii: In accordance with the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) Company  HKizEii: RIFPEARLME([FHEH )R EERFTEH

Law and the PRC subsidiaries’ Articles of Association, a subsidiary registered
in the PRC is required to appropriate 10% of its annual statutory net profit
as determined in accordance with relevant statutory rules and regulations
applicable to enterprises established in the PRC (after offsetting any prior
years' losses) to the statutory reserve. When the balance of such reserve fund
reaches 50% of the entity’s capital, any further appropriation is optional. The
statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior years’ losses or to increase
capital. However, such balance of the statutory reserve must be maintained at
a minimum of 25% of the capital after such usages.

BARZAZKBERMA - RPEFMZHMBR
A EE RIS FE T M FIB10% 5 A% E
o BEATAFRBEEPEK L2 ¥R
Az ABEERRREREE (B ERLR
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BREARZ25% °



For the year ended 31 December 2012 HE=—F——F+=—HA=+—HIFZF

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:

Dividend income from held for trading
investments

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Amortisation of prepaid lease payment

Realised loss (gain) on held for trading
investments

Fair value change on held for trading
investments

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Finance costs

Allowance for inventories

Gain on disposal of property, plant
and equipment

Written off of property, plant and
equipment

Fair value change on investment
property

Interest income

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital

(Increase) decrease in inventories

Increase in trade and other receivables

Decrease in held for trading investments

Decrease in deposits placed with security
brokers

Decrease in trade and other payables

Cash (used in) generated from operations
PRC tax paid
Overseas tax refund

B Bt A 7
L NFIEE LR
FHER B IREBRBUA

ME - BERREFTE

JATH & 55

FIERZREZCDEH
B8R (Was)

FIERZRE 2 R FE

HEMBRRZ WS

BE KA

FERE

HEME - BE K&
2 WeE

RANE ATFEEY
FBIA

LEESEEH
RERTRE

78 (S )R

IR W R 5 e L At 8 KUK TR A

FHER SR ER D

FHREFERITLZ

A R R e L At A SR IR

re(FRMBZRE
EffREERED
REFIMLIA

2012
HK$'000
-
FHR

9,161

(1,533)

6,347
24

4,416

2,233

2,376
1,678

11

(1,080)
(2,336)

21,397
(19,865)
(36,560)

35

355
(22,823)

(57.461)
(557)

2011
HK$’000

THET

—=

6,852

(420)
(1,307)

(19,348)
14,487
(19,608)
69,513

254
(3,078)

42,220

39

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING &% (FTH)FMB2Z

ACTIVITIES ReFHE (58,018) 42,259



For the year ended 31 December 2012 H{E=—F——4F+ A =+—HIFZF

2012 2011
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
-5 —F——
B &E FET FHT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Interest received 2R & 2,336 1,307
Dividend income from held for trading BERSRE
investments iR B A 1,533 3,443
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries HEKB AR 2R &
MAERE 35 - 299
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant LEME  BERREZ
and equipment FriS 5K 18 - 24
Net cash outflow on acquisition of WHENB AR Z2HE
subsidiaries i FEE 33 &34 (100) (12,853)
Purchase of property, plant and BEYME - BER&E
equipment (4,149) (193)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REEEMAZ
ACTIVITIES REFE (380) (7,973)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Loan from a non-controlling interest R IEEUNGIE 2 2) g T
of a subsidiary ZER 17,512 21,125
Interest paid BERALE (2,376) (734)
Repayment of loan from a related BIRAEE AT
company ZER (23,346) =
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM MEEE(FTA) B2
FINANCING ACTIVITIES HEFE (8,210) 20,391
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN ReRBAESZFEEAZ
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (R B in 58 (66,608) 54,677
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R—A—BzRER
AT 1 JANUARY HEEEER 302,883 248,196
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  [EXR& &) & 70 10
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RT+ZA=+—RHBZBEER
AT 31 DECEMBER, represented by REeEEER @ IRTTES

bank balances and cash RIRE TR 236,345 302,883



For the year ended 31 December 2012 HE=—F——F+=—HA=+—HIFZF

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses
of the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the corporate information of the annual
report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional currency
of the Company while the functional currencies of the principal
subsidiaries are set out in Note 5b(i).

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries (together with the Company referred to as
the “Group”) are set out in Note 44.

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA.

Amendments to HKFRS 1 Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of

Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters
Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures —
Transfers of Financial Assets

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying
Asset

The application of the new and revised HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 32

HKAS 19
(as revised in 2011)

HKAS 27

(as revised in 2011)
HKAS 28

(as revised in 2011)
HK(IFRIC) — Int 20

Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2009-2011 Cycle?

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards —
Government Loans?

Disclosures — Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities?

Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS 9
and Transition Disclosures*

Consolidated Financial Statements,
Joint Arrangements and Disclosure
of Interests in Other Entities:
Transition Guidance?

Investment Entities?

Financial Instruments*
Consolidated Financial Statements?
Joint Arrangements?

Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities?
Fair Value Measurement?

Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income’
Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities®
Employee Benefits?

Separate Financial Statements?

Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures?

Stripping Costs in the Production
Phase of a Surface Mine?

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015.
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Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 - 2011
Cycle issued in June 2012

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 — 2011 Cycle include a
number of amendments to various HKFRSs. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
Amendments to HKFRSs include the amendments to HKAS 16
Property, Plant and Equipment and the amendments to HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.

The amendments to HKAS 16 clarify that spare parts, stand-
by equipment and servicing equipment should be classified as
property, plant and equipment when they meet the definition
of property, plant and equipment in HKAS 16 and as inventory
otherwise. The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments will have a material effect on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify that income tax on
distributions to holders of an equity instrument and transaction
costs of an equity transaction should be accounted for in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes. The directors of the
Company anticipate that the amendments to HKAS 32 will have no
effect on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

and amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures

- Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify existing application issues
relating to the offset of financial assets and financial liabilities
requirements. Specifically, the amendments clarify the meaning

of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and
“simultaneous realisation and settlement”.
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Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
and amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures
- Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities (Continued)

The amendments to HKFRS 7 require entities to disclose
information about rights of offset and related arrangements (such
as collateral posting requirements) for financial instruments under
an enforceable master netting agreement or similar arrangement.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and interim periods
within those annual periods. The disclosures should be provided
retrospectively for all comparative periods. However, the
amendments to HKAS 32 are not effective until annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2014, with retrospective
application required.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
these amendments to HKAS 32 and HKFRS 7 may result in more
disclosures being made with regard to offsetting financial assets
and financial liabilities in the future.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9
amended in 2010 includes the requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition.
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HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described as follows:

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement to be subsequently measured at amortised
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held
within a business model whose objective is to collect the
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised
cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. All other
debt investments and equity investments are measured at
their fair values at the end of subsequent accounting periods.
In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable
election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of
an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally
recognised in profit or loss.

With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designed as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS 9
requires that the amount of change in fair value of the
financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit
risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes
in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or
loss. Changes in fair value of financial liabilities attributable
to changes in the financial liabilities’ credit risk are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under HKAS 39, the
entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial
liability designated as fair value through profit or loss was
presented in profit or loss.
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HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2015, with earlier application permitted.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the adoption of
HKFRS 9 in the future may have significant impacts on amounts
reported in respect of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities. Regarding the Group’s financial assets, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of that effect until a
detailed review has been completed.

New and revised standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures

In June 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures was issued, including
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) and
HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011).

Key requirements of these five standards are described below.

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements that deal with consolidated financial
statements. HK (SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities
will be withdrawn upon the effective date of HKFRS 10. Under
HKFRS 10, there is only one basis for consolidation, that is, control.
In addition, HKFRS 10 includes a new definition of control that
contains three elements: (a) power over an investee, (b) exposure,
or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee,
and (c) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the
amount of the investor’s returns. Extensive guidance has been
added in HKFRS 10 to deal with complex scenarios.

BBV KRELEREIR [ S5
TH|®

BB BRE R EORE B R —
B—BskbARBItA 2 2 ERM AN - AR
AlAE -

ARREEET - BREBTEMBRSE
HRIFIRKEHANKEU B EE RN
BEEBR SWENERTE - EKF
AMERA - REBAKENKEEELRE
ZAEME AN ERT o

ERFSRE - BaRH B
ERAIRBESHEZHTRE
1ERT 2 A

—E—ERARB-EREFEGAIR
B BeLhH BEARRKEFEZ
L BREREBMEHREEREI05
BEREMBRELBNENR  BEVBR
FEAF125 - BEFAEAE275R (R
R —FEF)RERGFERE 285
(R=F——F1&7]) -

ZORERZ ERBEHBANT ©

BEVEREENEI10RMKE LGS
RRNFE 275 [ 6 KB ERR | RIE
HAaMBmERzZHs - BE(REBEBKZR
BEg®)-RBENR[HF4kE —BRE
Bl BRBAMBEREENF 10 24
M B HEHE - RIBEF BV B REER
F10%% - AGRE—HEE - ARES
B o ttoN  BEMBHRESEANFE105RE
BEHEZHMER  ETBRE=HALE:
QHEXREEBIEN  D)2HEER
REBRBZXBMEAZ 0K AR E
o ROHEIREEREREENY
EREEOHRSBE RS - BAPBHRS
FERIZE 105K E N IE S IR S| AR IR 54



For the year ended 31 December 2012 HE=—F——F+=—HA=+—HIFZF

New and revised standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures
(Continued)

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. HKFRS 11
deals with how a joint arrangement of which two or more parties
have joint control should be classified. HK (SIC)-Int 13 Jointly
Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers
will be withdrawn upon the effective date of HKFRS 11. Under
HKFRS 11, joint arrangements are classified as joint operations
or joint ventures, depending on the rights and obligations of the
parties to the arrangements. In contrast, under HKAS 31, there are
three types of joint arrangements: jointly controlled entities, jointly
controlled assets and jointly controlled operations. In addition,
joint ventures under HKFRS 11 are required to be accounted for
using the equity method of accounting, whereas jointly controlled
entities under HKAS 31 can be accounted for using the equity
method of accounting or proportionate consolidation.

HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable to entities that
have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and/
or unconsolidated structured entities. In general, the disclosure
requirements in HKFRS 12 are more extensive than those in the
current standards.

In July 2012, the amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12 were issued to clarify certain transitional guidance on the
application of these five HKFRSs for the first time.

These five standards, together with the amendments relating to the
transitional guidance, are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2013 with earlier application permitted provided
that all of these standards are applied at the same time.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application
of these five standards will have significant impact on amounts
reported in the consolidated financial statements.
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Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS
27 Investment Entities

The amendments to HKFRS 10 introduce an exception to
consolidating subsidiaries for an investment entity, except where
the subsidiaries provide services that relate to the investment
entity’s investment activities. Under the amendments to HKFRS
10, an investment entity is required to measure its interests in
subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss.

To qualify as an investment entity, certain criteria have to be met.
Specifically, an entity is required to:

e obtain funds from one or more investors for the purpose of
providing them with professional investment management
services;

. commit to its investor(s) that its business purpose is to invest
funds solely for returns from capital appreciation, investment
income, or both; and

o measure and evaluate performance of substantially all of its
investments on a fair value basis.

Consequential amendments to HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 have been
made to introduce new disclosure requirements for investment
entities.

The amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014,
with early application permitted. The directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of the amendments will have no
effect on the Group as the Company is not an investment entity.
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HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for fair value
measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements.
The standard defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value, and requires disclosures about fair value
measurements. The scope of HKFRS 13 is broad; it applies to both
financial instrument items and non-financial instrument items for
which other HKFRSs require or permit fair value measurements
and disclosures about fair value measurements, except in specified
circumstances. In general, the disclosure requirements in HKFRS
13 are more extensive than those in the current standards. For
example, quantitative and qualitative disclosures based on the
three-level fair value hierarchy currently required for financial
instruments only under HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
will be extended by HKFRS 13 to cover all assets and liabilities
within its scope.

HKFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the
new standard may affect the amounts reported in the consolidated
financial statements and result in more extensive disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items
of Other Comprehensive Income

The amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income introduce new terminology for the
statement of comprehensive income and income statement. Under
the amendments to HKAS 1, a ‘statement of comprehensive
income’ is renamed as a ‘statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income’ and an ‘income statement’ is renamed as a
‘statement of profit or loss’. The amendments to HKAS 1 retain the
option to present profit or loss and other comprehensive income
in either a single statement or in two separate but consecutive
statements. However, the amendments to HKAS 1 require items of
other comprehensive income to be grouped into two categories:
(a) items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss;
and (b) items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
when specific conditions are met. Income tax on items of other
comprehensive income is required to be allocated on the same
basis — the amendments do not change the option to present items
of other comprehensive income either before tax or net of tax.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2012. The presentation of items of
other comprehensive income will be modified accordingly when the
amendments are applied in the future accounting periods.
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for investment property and certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below. Historical cost is generally
based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
goods.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company
has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition or up
to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those
used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein.

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-
controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.
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Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i) derecognises
the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts
at the date when control is lost, (i) derecognises the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interests in the former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost, and (iii) recognises the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest, with any resulting difference being recognise
as a gain or loss in profit or loss attributable to the Group. When
assets of the subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or fair
values and the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets. The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a jointly
controlled entity.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value.
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Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured at the
non-controlling interests’s proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and
its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability
is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with
HKAS 39, or HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or
loss being recognised in profit or loss.
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Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the
end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on
a pro rata basis on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or
loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any identified
impairment loss on the Company’s statement of financial position.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying
amounts will be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as
met only when the sale is highly probable and the non-current
asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition.
Management must be committed to the sale, which should be
expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one
year from the date of classification.

Investment property classified as held for sale is measured at fair
value.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 H{E=—F——4F+ A =+—HIFZF

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold and
services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts
and sales related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are
delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the following
conditions are satisfied:

e the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

e the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective
control over the goods sold;

e the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group; and

e the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Gain or losses on sales of trading securities are recognised on a
trade date basis when the relevant transactions are executed.

Income from provision of freight forwarding agency services is
recognised when the services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is
accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably).
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than properties under construction as described
below) are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate amounted for on a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Investment property

Investment property is property held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment property is initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment property is measured at their fair values. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of investment property are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Prepaid lease payment

Prepaid lease payment represents interest in land held under
operating lease arrangement and is amortised over the lease terms
on a straight-line basis. Prepaid lease payment is measured at
cost less subsequent accumulated amortisation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of the
Company’s net investment in a foreign operation, in which case,
such exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity and will be reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the
period except for exchange differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in which cases,
the exchange differences are also recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of the translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation, all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit
or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1
January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation and retranslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in equity under the heading of translation reserve.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Government grants are recognised as revenue over the periods
necessary to match them with the costs for which they are intended
to compensate, on a systematic and rational basis. Government
grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit schemes

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF"”) Scheme, Central Provident
Fund (“CPF"”) Scheme and state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income because it
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of inventories are calculated using the weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the three
categories, including financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL"), loans and receivables and available-for-sale
financial assets. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis other
than those financial assets classified as FVTPL, of which the interest
income is included in other income.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets held for trading.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

e it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that the Group manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes
in fair value arising from remeasurement recognised directly in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial assets and is included in realised gain or
loss and fair value change on held for trading investments in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Fair value is
determined in the manner described in respective note.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, deposits placed with security brokers
and bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any identified impairment
losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated or not classified as financial assets at FVTPL and loans
and receivables.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot
be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must
be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity instruments are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end
of each reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment on financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

e  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest
and principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation; or

o disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment on financial assets (Continued)

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in
addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase
in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period of 30 to 120 days, observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in
subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment losses was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments will not
be reversed through profit or loss.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables, loan
from a non-controlling interest of a subsidiary and loan from a
related company are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when
due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt
instrument.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts (Continued)

A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group and not
designated as at fair value through profit or loss is recognised
initially at its fair value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee contract.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of
obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with
HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets;
and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the revenue
recognition policy.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flow from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the
Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement and recognises an associated liability. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing
for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees after 7 November
2002 and vested on or after 1 January 2005

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the
fair value of share options granted at the grant date is recognised
as an expense in full at the grant date when the share options
granted vest immediately, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share options reserve).

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses.

Share options granted to employees on or before
7 November 2002, or granted after 7 November 2002
and vested before 1 January 2005

The financial impact of share options granted is not recorded
in the consolidated financial statements until such time as the
options are exercised, and no charge is recognised in profit or
loss in respect of the value of options granted. Upon the exercise
of the share options, the resulting shares issued are recorded as
additional share capital at the nominal value of the shares, and the
excess of the exercise price per share over the nominal value of the
shares is recorded as share premium. Options which lapse or are
cancelled prior to their exercise date are deleted from the register
of outstanding options.

Share options granted to consultants

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services are
measured at the fair values of the goods or services received, unless
that fair value cannot be reliably measured, in which case the
goods or services received are measured by reference to the fair
value of the share options granted. The fair values of the goods or
services received are recognised as expenses, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve), when the Group obtains
the goods or when the counterparties render services, unless the
goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.
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Impairment losses on tangible assets other
than goodwill (see the accounting policy in
respect of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying the entity’s
accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company
have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in consolidated financial statements.

Buildings

Despite the Group has paid the full purchase consideration
as detailed in Note 16, certain of the Group’s rights to use of
the buildings were not granted formal titles from the relevant
government authorities in the PRC. The directors of the Company
are of the opinions that the risks and rewards of using these assets
have been transferred to the Group and the absence of formal titles
to these buildings do not impair the value of the relevant properties
to the Group.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking into account the
estimated residual value. The Group assesses annually the residual
value and the useful life of the property, plant and equipment
and if the expectation differs from the original estimates, such
differences from the original estimates will impact the depreciation
charges in the year in which the estimates change.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment

The Group assesses annually whether property, plant and
equipment have any indication of impairment, in accordance with
the relevant accounting policies. The recoverable amounts of the
Group's property, plant and equipment have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the
use of judgment and estimates on future operating cash flows and
discount rates adopted. Where the actual cash flows are different
from the original estimates, a material change in the amount of
impairment may arise. At 31 December 2012, the carrying amount
of property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$52,204,000
(2011: HK$53,228,000). No impairment loss was recognised for
both years.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Net realisable value of inventories

The Group makes allowance for inventories based on an
assessment of the net realisable value of inventories. Allowances
are applied to inventories where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the net realisable value is lower than
the cost of inventories. As at 31 December 2012, the carrying
amount of inventories was HK$21,439,000 (2011:HK$3,198,000)
(net of allowance for inventories of HK$1,678,000 (2011: Nil)).

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

The policy for impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
of the Group is based on the evaluation of collectability and
aging analysis of accounts and on management’s judgment. A
considerable amount of judgment is required in assessing the
ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each customer.
If the financial conditions of customers of the Group were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional allowances may be required. At 31 December
2012, the carrying amount of trade receivables of approximately
HK$57,702,000 (2011: HK$30,706,000), net of impairment
loss of trade receivables of approximately HK$1,639,000 (2011:
HK$1,639,000).

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value-in-use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill
has been allocated. The value-in-use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value. Where the actual future cash flows of the cash-
generating unit are less than expected, a material impairment loss
may arise. At 31 December 2012, the carrying amount of goodwill
is HK$36,729,000 (2011: HK$36,365,000). No impairment loss
was recognised for the years. Details of the recoverable amount
calculation are disclosed in Note 20.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of available-for-sale investments

The Group follows the guidance of HKAS 39 “Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” to determine when
an available-for-sale investment is impaired. This determination
requires significant judgment. In making this judgment, the
Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent
to which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost;
and the financial health of and short-term business outlook
for the investee, including factors such as industry and sector
performance, changes in technology and operational and
financing cash flow. At 31 December 2012, the carrying amount
of available-for-sale investments of approximately HK$7,500,000
(2011: HK$7,500,000), net of impairment loss of available-
for-sale investments of approximately HK$30,750,000 (2011:
HK$30,750,000).

Estimated provision for current and deferred
taxation

The Group is subject to taxation in various jurisdictions. Significant
judgment is required in determining the provision for taxation
and the timing of payment of the related taxation. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax in the period in which such
determination is made.

At 31 December 2012, the Group has estimated unutilised tax
losses of approximately HK$153,166,000 (2011: HK$140,306,000)
available for offset against future profits. The directors of the
Company make estimates on the future profit streams of the Group
entities of which tax losses are not utilised. A deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of estimated unutilised tax losses of
approximately HK$261,000 (2011: HK$297,000). No deferred tax
asset has been recognised of the remaining tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

A=+ —HIFE

AT REERZ 2 EERF @)
A ERE 2B E

REBRBEESSERFEIN [/
B HERRAEIZESIBEENHERE

LBERE - BREETAEHEALHE -
RIEHHEE - AEEFAZAXBEF
HERZEERAFEBRRERAZEE
EEIERRZHBEE2ENEPER
RE  BETERSBRE - HfTEL

FEENMEReREERZ - N8
——F#+-A=+—8  AIHEREZIK
A #) /57,500,000 T(Z 8 ——4 :
7,500,000 7T) - EFE MK AT EER
&R EEE#130,750,0008 T (- T ——
£ : 30,750,000/ 7T) °

ERRAEEH A Z (G

AEBBHNZ ERDEER ZBE - RE
TE AR BB IR 2 TR TR 8 2 B e ST e e
AIEREAHE - RAEEBBETER
ZAREEERBRALRX S RAE - iz
EREZBRRNBEREN PR 2R
TR BRZESZEFELEE <HRR
Z ST RORE R IA

R-ZE——F+-_A=+—8 ~"&£BAHE
{HET AR AR IEE18%153,166,000/% 7T
(Z=——4% : 140,306,000/ 7T) * 7] A
RIBEARACEF] - ARREBHTALE
B2 AT BRI ﬁﬁfﬂlﬁ}gﬂéifﬁmlﬂi
/A - Bt R E AT IESEERE
Wﬁiéﬁé\@zm,ooo%n(_fffﬁ :
297,000 7T ) o B E DA TR R R AR 4
o B I R AR AR AR o



For the year ended 31 December 2012 HE=—F——F+=—HA=+—HIFZF

a. Categories of financial instruments a. SEMIEZER
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E——fF =5
FER FAExT
Financial assets HBEE
FVTPL (Held for trading investments) WA TEGE RIS
BRIZ(RHERZI-E) 21,272 27,956
Loans and receivables ERRERZRIE(BERS
(including cash and cash equivalents) kIRELEEIERH) 297,263 335,110
Available-for-sale financial assets AIHEMEEE 7,500 7,500
Financial liabilities e E
Amortised cost REERAR 70,383 103,249
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. MREREEEEREE
policies
The Group's major financial instruments include trade and rEEzFZom T ABEREIIE
other receivables, held for trading investments, deposits AR EMEWRZHIE  FEXHE
placed with security brokers, bank balances and cash, trade B FRREBEBFLLITZER R
and other payables, loans from a related company and a non- TERRE® - BIRRREME
controlling interest of a subsidiary. Details of the financial RRRIE DA e R 38 1~ B K P |8 2 B 3F
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks TRERER - BRI AR 2
associated with these financial instruments include market BERSHEBANE ZSemI A
risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), EZzERBEEMSER(EER
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate % FERERREMERRR) 5
these risks are set out below. The management manages and BRBRESHESRR - BIEZE
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are Bl BHEHERTX - BEEE®E
implemented on a timely and effective manner. BRERZERE  BREEER
BB EITE BEEHE o
Market risk % 2 B2
(i) Currency risk () EEEE
Other than the subsidiaries established in the PRC, BRAAARE - AN RSB L
Singapore and United States of which functional ZHBARZNEEE SRR
currency is RMB, Singapore dollars (“SGD"”) and United AR ® ~ 3o o ([ 5
States dollars (“USD") respectively, the functional T ERETAETDN AR
currency of the Company and other subsidiaries is HK$. AIREAMME AR 2R
Certain bank balances and cash are denominated in HEBT - BETRITHER KR
currencies other than the functional currencies of the SUHESEEEEEEEN
group entities to which they relate. Foreign currencies ONZ EEUEEHE o JBHNETE I E
are also used to settle expenses for overseas operations, RINBENRS - k2 AREE

which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. AEZINER B
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b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency
denominated monetary assets at the reporting date are

as follows:
Denominated in HK$ LA TTEHE
Bank balances and cash RITEHRKIRS

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy but the management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group currently exposed to RMB foreign currency
risk.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
10% (2011: 10%) increase and decrease in HK$ against
RMB. 10% (2011: 10%) is the sensitivity rate used
when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the end of the
reporting period for a 10% (2011: 10%) change in
foreign currency rates.

BHRREERREREER
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TS E AR ()

(i)

EXE R (&)

AEBUSINSHEZEREE
K& B ZREEWNT

2012 2011
HK$’'000 HK$'000
—E——fF —E——%F
THET FHET
2,851 44,761
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 5.
b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)
(i) Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2012

€M TR

b. MHEAREERBFEREXR
(%)

s E g (&)
() EXERE)
FRRE D (8)

BE-_Z——f+=-HA=+—8

Increase Increase
(decrease) in (decrease) in
foreign profit after tax
exchange rate for the year
% HK’'000
SEEREFH FRRBURTR
(TR)BEDL O )
FHET
If RMB weakens against HK$ i ARBE R AT
FE K=y 10 214
If RMB strengths against HK$ i ARBE R BT 2
i R ggog (10) (214)
For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE2—Z——F+_-_A=1+—HILFE
Increase Increase
(decrease) in (decrease) in
foreign  profit after tax
exchange rate for the year
% HK’000
HNEER FA FRKRBIEER
(FH) B ECRA)
TFET
If RMB weakens against HK$ M AR R AT 2
[E R g 10 3,357
If RMB strengths against HK$ i ARBE BT 2
b o8 (10) (3,357)
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b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances, deposits placed
with security brokers and loan from a non-controlling
interest of a subsidiary, due to the fluctuation of the
prevailing market interest rate. It is the Group's policy
to keep its bank balances and cash and deposits placed
with security brokers at floating rate of interest so as to
minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider other necessary
actions when significant interest rate exposure is
anticipated.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to variable interest rates at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the amounts outstanding at the end of the
reporting period was outstanding for the whole year.
A 10 basis point (2011: 10 basis points) increase or
decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 10 basis points (2011: 10
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s profit after tax for the year
ended 31 December 2012 would increase/decrease
approximately by HK$200,000 (2011: HK$282,000). This
is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest
rates on its bank balances and cash and deposits placed
with security brokers.

BHRREERREREER

(&)

TS E AR ()

(1)

REEZFBRITHER - TR
RESFELRITZERLMER
AIIEEREREREARITHIS
M =% B A IR 2 R A K
o REEZBRBKERT
BHRMRAEARFHREHFE
RIT 2T R I B M R 5+
B AR FENXERREE
=K -

7N £2 B 30 B T RR A o] ) 2R 5
BE - A BEEESERMN
ZREK  YERBHATER
) 2= gz By & 8 BRBRCEL At T 75
178 o

HBRE DT

Tl SRR 5 AT AR IR A R 5 AP
RZZHHNNERBREE - 21T
DRERERBEPRREEZD
BEREBEE RN EEENR
Blo PR NKIOBEER(=
T——F 10EEZ) KRR
TEEEBASBREFERAR
BB - WisE IR E S F R
BEHIRA BB 2 i E o

fis F) =& £ F+ /T & 10 {3 £ 24
—E——F 10EEZ)mAT
BEHEMAZREREEFTTE - A
AEEHE-_ZT——F+=A4
=+ —BHIFEZRTE R
#5128 hn 36 4 #9200,0007% 7T
—T——% :282,000&7T)

WHEEHRAANEEEATIR
ITHEB NIRRT RN ES
BICTT 2 ER MR g o



For the year ended 31 December 2012 HE=—F——F+=—HA=+—HIFZF

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. BAKRETEEEREE
policies (Continued) (#&)

TS EER (%)
(ifi) EL A (B 152 2
AREEGRE ETRAEHZKRE

Market risk (Continued)
(iii) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in listed equity securities. The management HEKRERR - EEESBE
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of FEETRARER 2 RE ZKRE
investments with different risks. The Group’s equity HEEGER o AEEZKRE
B EEERRBRAREZ
RATLE o o REBZEE

price risk is mainly concentrated on equity instruments
quoted in the Stock Exchange. In addition, the Group has

appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and —HETEABEEEKRR
will consider hedging the risk exposure should the need WG A & ERZ EE PR
arise. Bz o

Sensitivity analysis BRE DT

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks at the
reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had
been 20% (2011: 20%) higher/lower, the profit after tax
for the year ended 31 December 2012 increase/decrease
by approximately HK$3,553,000 (2011: HK$4,668,000)
as a result of the changes in fair value of held for trading
investments.

In management'’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is not
representative of the other price risk for the investments
in listed equity securities as the year end exposure does
not reflects the exposure during the year.

THLGREE DT TR BN AN R

SAZKRERBREE -

MERATAZER AT
[£20%(—F——% :20%) -
rEBBE-_T—=-F+=A
=t+t—HILEFEZBRBREER

BERBERSRERFEE

i & 0,8 4> 493,553,000 78
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Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2012, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
a failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties and
financial guarantees provided by the Group is arising from:

— the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position; and

— the amount of contingent liabilities in relation to
financial guarantee issued by the Group as disclosed in
Note 38.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end
of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies. The Group’s
concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is mainly
in the PRC, which accounted for 99% (2011: 98%) of the
total trade receivable as at 31 December 2012. The Group
has concentration of credit risk as 86% (2011: 98%) and
99% (2011: 99%) of the total trade receivables was due from
the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.
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Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For the deposits placed with security brokers and held for
trading investments, the Group limited its exposure to credit
risk by transacting the majority of its securities with broker-
dealers and regulated exchanges with high credit rating
of which the Group considered to be well established. All
transactions in listed investments are settled/paid for upon
delivery using approved and reputable brokers.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of its bank
balances and cash and considers the risk is minimal.

The maturity dates of all financial liabilities are repayable
on demand or within one year as at the end of each of the
reporting period.

The financial guarantee contract of HK$63,000 (2011:
HK$60,000) are the maximum amount of the Group could be
required to settle under the arrangement for full guaranteed
amount if that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the
guarantee. Based on expectations at the end of the reporting
period, the Group considers that it is more likely than not that
no amount will be payable under the arrangement.
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Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

e the fair value of financial assets with standard terms
and conditions and traded in active liquid markets are
determined with reference to quoted market bid prices
and ask prices respectively;

e the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities is determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis; and

e the fair value of financial guarantee contracts is
determined using option pricing models where the
main assumptions are the probability of default by the
specified counterparty extrapolated from market-based
credit information and the amount of loss, given the
default. The directors of the Company consider that
the fair value of the financial guarantee contracts is
insignificant.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values due to short-term or immediate
maturities.

c. A¥E
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c. Fair value (Continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on
the degree to which the fair value is observable.

. Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities.

o Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices).

° Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data

(unobservable inputs).

Financial assets at FVTPL as at 31 December 2012

Held for trading investments BERSHIEE

Financial assets at FVTPL as at 31 December 2011

Held for trading investments RHERHIRE

AEEE)
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E3 8

TREHRERAFEENTERIEL
FEZERIADN  BERMG
ZRHENBEREBREE=H -

. E-F ERAERAMEEE
B HRECRERE) B2
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. ETF - REAE-RZBE
Sh - SEEE B EEE (EE
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TR

o F=N AYFEUAREREMS
BRI RKE  BHEENAGM
Mz AB(TABRERAE)
ZEERMAF 2 A HERE -

R-ZEBE-—Z-H+-A=+t—-H2Z#
DNFPEIERREVRERER UK
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Level 1
HK$'000
£—8
FET

21,272

R-E——F+-_A=+—H2
AFEIREERSREE 2B
BE

Level 1
HK$'000
F£—H
FHT

27,956
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c. Fair value (Continued)

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 in current and
prior years.

Of the total gains or losses for the year ended 31 December
2012 included in profit or loss, loss of approximately
HK$6,649,000 (2011: gain of approximately HK$22,936,000)
relates to held for trading investments at the end of the
reporting period.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associates with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors of
the Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through new share issues as well as the issue of new debt.

c¢. AFE®
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Turnover represents the amounts received and receivable from
manufacture and sales of coal, provision of international air and sea
freight forwarding services, dividend income and gross proceeds
from disposal of held for trading investments during the year.

Manufacture and sales of coal SUER SRR
Provision of international air and sea REREMZE R
freight forwarding services B EERYS

Dividend income from held for trading

investments
Gross proceeds from disposal of held for HEFHIELZHIEE 2
trading investments FriSsRIE 85

Information reported to the board of directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purpose of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on the type of goods sold or services delivered or provided.
No operating segments identified by the chief operating decision
maker have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments
of the Group.

Specifically, the Company’s reportable segments same as operating
segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

a) International air and sea freight forwarding segment engages
in the provision of international air and sea freight forwarding
and logistic services to customers;

b) Securities trading segment engages in trading of equity
securities and dividend income from held for trading
investments; and

¢) Manufacture and sales of coal segment engages in
manufacture and sales of coal products to customers.

FERZHIWE 2 IBIA

EEBENFARSERHERR REEH
Bz Mol B BB RS M 2 U R B 2
A RBWMARBERIERBIRE 2T
BFIREE -

2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-——F —T——F
FERT FAT
95,036 24,054
6,372 6,547
1,533 3,443
48,412 156,489
151,353 190,533

HRERDER D BERRFERARRES
Z(AEREBERRE)EREREER
HEE MR HIEHRE 2B - ER
EARKENRE DB - TELERKE
I A PR 2B ) B R A o

REME - AARZRES BERRES
5 BT R o S RIS 858 A8 5 BBAER)
mF

a) BEEMZERELEEIHRIERAET
PREBEEMRZERE EEEARY
MARTS

by EBFEENHBUERATHEER

EFHER HIRE ML B A &

0 HERBERRDBUFEERRA
BEPHERKER °



For the year ended 31 December 2012 H{E=—F——4F+ A =+—HIFZF

Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

reportable segments.

Year ended 31 December 2012

Turnover

Revenue
External

Segment results

Unallocated corporate expenses
Unallocated other income
Finance costs

Profit before tax

International

air and
sea freight
forwarding
HK$'000
BIBR A= R
BLEE
FHET
BE-E-—=F
+=—A=+—8
LEFE
] 6,372
e
EIEYN 6,372
DERHEE (82)
RO EE X
A9 Be E A WA

B 250 B4t )

7 PR K SR AR
TXAREBERE D HES 2 RS RE

BT e

Securities
trading
HK$'000

HHEEH
TR

49,945

1,533

(5,116)

Manufacture
and sales

of coal
HK$’000
BER
SHE R K
FET

95,036

95,036

26,443

Total
HK$'000

LR
TR

151,353

102,941

21,245

(13,613)
3,905
(2,376)

9,161
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8 DIER ®)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEbE R EE(E)

International

air and Manufacture
sea freight Securities and sales
forwarding trading of coal Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B PR i 22 Bl
BrEE BHER SHE B R @t
FHExT FAET FET FET
Year ended 31 December 2011 HBE—-—ZT——F
t=A=+—H
LHFE
Turnover [ 6,547 159,932 24,054 190,533
Revenue &

External Eapd 6,547 3,443 24,054 34,044
Segment results DEBHELE (602) 26,379 152 25,929
Unallocated corporate expenses AR EEE % (19,990)
Unallocated other income AOBEMIA 1,647
Finance costs BhE& A AN (734)
Profit before tax B B4 B 4 ) 6,852
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the WED 2 ETBUREMF3MM AL R
same as the Group's accounting policies described in Note 3. ZEETEERAR - o EEF (BB ESS
Segment profit (loss) represents the profit earned by (loss from) EETRELZ m R (FTEEZER) BRI
each segment without allocation of central administration costs, ROBHRITERER - EFHE - HEM
directors’ emoluments, gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net BRrrlzWazs ER W (EE)FE R
exchange gain (loss), bank interest income and finance costs. This is TREWARRERR « TR EER
the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the FEMEREmMMEZEERREER CE

purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment. 4E o
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Segment assets and liabilities THEERAE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by TNAAEBERRESHBEID CEERE
reportable segments. BEDHT °

International

air and Manufacture
sea freight Securities and sales
forwarding trading of coal Total
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
ERMmER BER
BLEEE EHEE SHE R % e
FET FTHERT FET FET
At 31 December 2012 R=T—=
+=ZA=+—H
ASSETS BE
Segment assets DEPEE 800 21,272 176,657 198,729
Unallocated corporate assets AOEEEEE 249,036
Total assets BEMAE 447,765
LIABILITIES aE
Segment liabilities HEEE 1,305 - 13,072 14,377
Unallocated corporate liabilities Ko ESEEE&E 76,572

Total liabilities BERE 90,949
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 HE=—F——F+=—HA=+—HIFZF

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. oEER (=)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) THEEREE®E)
International

air and Manufacture

sea freight Securities and sales
forwarding trading of coal Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BrEE BHER SHE B R HEt
FHET FET FET FET

At 31 December 2011 R-E——&
t=A=+—H

ASSETS EE

Segment assets DEPEE 928 28,311 123,107 152,346

Unallocated corporate assets AoREEEE 313,751

Total assets BEME 466,097

LIABILITIES afE

Segment liabilities HEEE 1,704 = 399 2,103

Unallocated corporate liabilities Ko EEEEE 110,419

Total liabilities BE®H 112,522

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and RERHHBREARREDEHEHEEIR

allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than - BAUHERE - RITEHERS
available-for-sale investments, bank balances and cash, the P E R 7 R I B R R
equipment of head office and part of other receivables; and HIN TBEEHIREERED

#B s K

- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than — BREEARKLHBARIEERER
loan from a related company and a non-controlling interest of BEX - BEAE BEEHEAERK
a subsidiary, tax liabilities, deferred tax liabilities and part of oy B EARIEN - FERES

other payables. DEEREDE
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Other segment information =R g
International

air and Manufacture

sea freight  Securities and sale
forwarding trading of coal Unallocated Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

ERHMZER HER
BLEE RBHEE  BHEER ROE #ct

TER TER TER TER TER

Year ended 31 December 2012 BZz-2--&
TZA=t-HLFE

Amounts included in the measure of FESPERK

segment profit or loss or DHEER

segment assets: FAZEHE
Amortisation of prepaid lease BIHESHE

payment - - 24 - 24
Fair value change on investment REMENTEE

property - - - (1,080) (1,080)
Additions to non-current assets AEIETBEE (M)

(Note) - - 4,141 8 4,149
Depreciation of property, mE - BERSETE

plant and equipment 5 - 5,914 428 6,347
Written off of property, plant MENE  BERRE

and equipment - - - 11 11
Allowance for inventories FERE - - 1,678 - 1,678
Realised loss on held RERSREZ

for trading investments BEEER - 4,416 - - 4,416
Fair value change on RERFREZ N TEE

held for trading investments - 2,233 - - 2,233
Amounts regularly provided to the EHREELEREERM

chief operating decision maker but BEREES HERLH

not included in the measure of segment HEERRBIAL

profit or loss or segment assets: 28
Interest income FIEHA - (50) (28) (2,258) (2,336)
Interest expenses FIERZ - - 324 2,052 2,376
Income tax expense RS - - 6,604 - 6,604

Note: Non-current assets excluded available-for-sale investments and goodwill. Mk SERBEETREATHERERBE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 HE=—F——F+=—HA=+—HIFZF

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. DIER ®)
Other segment information (Continued) HipnIHER (@)
International

air and Manufacture

sea freight Securities and sale
forwarding trading of coal  Unallocated Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Bz R BER
BLEE EHEE HERR AAE it

TET TR THAT TAL TAL

Year ended 31 December 2011 BE-2—-&
TZA=t—HBLEE

Amounts included in the measure of 3+ & 5 BB s D AR
segment profit or loss or segment A ZSE

assets:
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR 2 W - - - (340) (340)
Amortisation of prepaid lease payment TEJ 74 %44 = = 5 - 5
Fair value change on investment REMEATEED

property - - = (420) (420)
Additions to non-current assets (Note) K& JEREN &7 (HHsE) 22 - 171 - 193
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #1% - BERRETE

equipment 6 - 857 660 1,523
Gain on disposal of property, plant  HEME - HER&KEZ

and equipment Yozm (24) = = = (24)
Written off of property, plantand ~ #$&%% - BiE Rk

equipment 8 - - = 8
Realised gain on held for trading RBERSHHREZEER G

investments - (24,359) - - (24,359)
Fair value change on held for trading  #{EX R & 7 A FEEH

investments = 1,423 = = 1,423

Amounts regularly provided to the chief & Hi/AI T B4 EREF ER

operating decision maker but not BRFAENBEREIS

included in the measure of segment ~ FEEBFEHAZ

profit or loss or segment assets: 28
Interest income FIEHA = = ©) (1,302) (1,307)
Interest expenses MEr% = = = 734 734
Income tax expense FEHEY = 1,092 139 - 1,231

Note: Non-current assets excluded available-for-sale investments and goodwill. Mtz  ERBEENOIEALERERGE -
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Revenue from major products and services

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major

products and services:

Manufacture and sale of coal
Dividend income from held for trading
investments
Provision of international air and
sea freight forwarding services

Geographical information

SUERHER R

FHER ZIRE 2 IRBIRA

R

International air and sea freight forwarding services are carried out
in Singapore, North and South America. Trading of securities are
carried out in Hong Kong. The manufacture and sales of coal are

carried out in the PRC.

Information about the Group's revenue from external customers
is presented based on the location of the operations. Information
about the Group’s non-current assets is presented based on the

geographical location of assets.

B L EER®

FEEmMRREz W

AT AR EEBEm LIRS < ham D
#r

2012 2011
HK$’'000 HK$'000
—E——F ZE——%F
FTHET FET
95,036 24,054
1,533 3,443
6,372 6,547
102,941 34,044
HhEER

REBRF IR - LFZMN R FEEMETT
BEfz= g EEBER - REBETT
EFREFEY  RTPBETRENHEE

AEBINEE P W ERTHIRE LR
2 - AREFRRBDEEENKEE
P25 o

Revenue from external

customers

2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000

HBEE WS
—E--F —ZT——F
THET FET
North and South America SIS 2,523 2,838
PRC =8 95,036 24,054
Hong Kong a5 1,533 3,443
Singapore TN 3,849 3,709
102,941 34,044

Non-current assets exclude available-for-sale investments.

Non-current assets

2012 2011

HKS$’000 HK$'000
FRBEE

—g-—F —F—F

FEx T

88,132 89,323

967 2,375

12 17

89,111 91,715

FRBDEETREANHERE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 HE=—F——F+=—HA=+—HIFZF

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. oEER &)
Information about major customers FEEFEH
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$’000
—E——fF —T——fF
FExT FHT
For revenue from manufacture and B R SHE B k2 W s
sale of coal
— Customer A -EFH 1,554 24,054
— Customer B -EFZ 73,471 -
9. OTHER INCOME 9. HfA
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$’000
—E-—F —T—F
FET FHT
Interest income F B A 2,336 1,307
Net exchange gain B 3 W e 3 2R 502 -
Gain on disposal of property, LEME  BEREE
plant and equipment & - 24
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries o BT 8 A B 2 Weam - 340
Government grants (Note) R R B (P ) 9 30
Sundry income HETE UL A 7 16
2,854 1,717
Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2012, a government grant of iz : BE_Z——F+_A=+—HILEFE"
approximately HK$9,000 (2011: HK$30,000) was granted to the Group NEBBE I —EREBB T EIESK
in relation to the job credit scheme in Singapore on the condition that fF#80499,0007 0 ( =& ——4F : 30,000
the Group has made CPF contributions in Singapore during the year. BIT) o NEBBERF AR 2 FR
PHESTEHK - REBBZBUTHE
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. B & B A&
2012 2011
HK$°000 HK$'000
—B—=fF —E——%F
FET FHET
Interests on: ATEEBEZHE :
- loan from a related company -FEARER 262 609
— loan from a non-controlling interest | S AGIE R L 2
of a subsidiary B& 2,052 125
— others — Hith 62 =

2,376 734
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Profit before tax has been arrived at
after charging:

Staff costs
— directors’ emoluments (Note 12(a))
— other staff costs
— retirement benefits scheme
contributions, excluding directors

Total staff costs

Auditor’s remuneration
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Amortisation of prepaid lease payment
Written off of property,
plant and equipment

Cost of inventories recognised as expenses

Allowance for inventories
(included in cost of sales)

Minimum lease payments under
operating lease charges

Net exchange loss

B 5 B M T A R T 51 & IR &
R
BB
- EFME (EE120)
- HipRE R A
- RINEFIFEIHR - TRBE
EHZ

BERAEER

ZEEN B &
ME - BERRERE

AN SR
YR - BE RS

RBRFAX 2 FERAR
FERBE(BRHEKNAA)

KEREH zREAS

bE RS R

2012
HK$'000
—E—-=fF
THET

1,564
4,843

138

6,545

1,050

6,347
24

111
65,459

1,678

1,772

2011
HK$'000
—E——4F
TET

2,615
3,934

151

6,700

795

1,523

21,917

3,661
314
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS 12. EEREEME

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEf <
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 5 (2011: 13) 2 ENTFSE(ZZE——4%F : 13
directors were as follows: BIESEEAZHMEHT :
Retirement
Salaries and benefits
other scheme Total
Fees benefits  contributions  emoluments
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HeR EREF
Fiok HihEF B #e
TET TET THT TExT

Year ended 31 December 2012 #BZ=-FE-—%+=f

=t-BLEE
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Huang Bog HABLE - 1,040 14 1,054
Mr. Du Chunyu HEREE - 150 - 150
- 1,190 14 1,204
Independent non-executive directors By IFHITESE
Ms. Wong Yan Ki, Angel bt e 120 - - 120
Mr. Zhang Liang Rt 120 - - 120
Mr. Zhou Ming Chi Bl ki 120 - - 120
360 - - 360
Total 4=t 360 1,190 14 1,564
Note:  The Group currently has no title as the chief executive. Given that Mizt : AKEBATNRITBER 2 BT -
the current size and structure of the Group, the directors of the ERAEERR ZRERER X
Company are of the view that though there is no chief executive, RAEFRARE L EITHEE -
the balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of MEANER B 7 3 VE P AR A 0 B AE IR
the Group, which comprises experienced individuals and meetings BiSFE - BAAEBEBRARAK
between the directors and the management are held from time to BZAT MEFHREEEG TR
time to discuss issues relating to operation of the Group. BITEH IRELAEEEERH

ZHEH-
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(a) EEM <2 ()

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Retirement
Salaries and benefits
other scheme Total
Fees benefits contributions emoluments
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ek RIREAR
e H b 42 A FHEIHER Rt
FH&T FHET FHET FHT
Year ended 31 December 2011  BZE=-E——%+=H
Zt—BLEFE
Executive directors HIES
Mr. Huang Bogj' HiAETE - 579 7 586
Mr. Du Chunyu' HEREE - 78 - 78
Mr. Ng Tang, David? RS - 270 13 283
Mr. Ren Zheng? (iR e - 259 6 265
Mr. Zhang Da Qing* KA - 419 9 428
Ms. Ma Jun Li* BEFzL - 360 - 360
- 1,965 35 2,000
Non-executive director FRITES
Ms. Yao Haixing* gLt 68 - - 68
Independent non-executive directors By JFHITES
Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny? B i 60 - - 60
Mr. Xing Hua? TR 52 A3 60 - - 60
Ms. Chung Kwo Ling* BhE 1t 274 - = 274
Ms. Wong Yan Ki, Angel’ b e 62 - - 62
Mr. Zhang Liang? iR ot AR 29 - - 29
Mr. Zhou Ming Chi' [ T A 62 - - 62
547 - - 547
Total @t 615 1,965 35 2,615
1 appointed on 24 June 2011 1 REZE——F A TNBEEZE
2 appointed on 4 October 2011 2 R-T——FTANBERE
3 resigned on 24 June 2011 3 R-T——F XA - +HABE
4 resigned on 4 October 2011 4 RZF——F T+ AMNBEE
Note:  The remuneration of directors of the Company is determined by iz : ARBEZEEZMEHTFMEE 2

[z

By
the remuneration committee having regard to the performance of EEEMARBETSBERE
individual and market trends. TE ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 HE=—F——F+=—HA=+—HIFZF

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS 12. EEREEME @)
(CONTINUED)

(b) BEME

(b) Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, one (2011: two) was director of the Company
whose emoluments are set out in (a) above. The aggregate
emoluments of the remaining four (2011: three) individuals
were as follows:

AEELERSHFALERERAF
—REBFE(ZT——F WB) &
FeMe RN EX(a)# 0 - H&RE
EHERFAT(ZE——F : =%)
Z B BEHIT

2012 2011

HK$'000 HK$'000

—E-——F ZE——%F

FHET FHBT

Salaries and other benefits Fre REAEF 1,572 1,213
Retirement benefits scheme contributions iR fki@FIET 214 2k 38 36
1,610 1,249

The emoluments of each of the employees are less than
HK$1,000,000 for both years.

During the two years ended 31 December 2012, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of
the Company and the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of directors of the
Company and the employees waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments paid by the Group during the two years ended 31
December 2012.

RAEFESRE ZMESHER
1,000,000 7T °

REBEE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—H
LEREAFE  AEBEIFERARQ A
EFRAERaHFATIAMEIA
W S| 1% 5 hn BR AN £ B ok 1 A 1 N
BALE BB ERBERME -
RBEE-_ZE——F+-_A=+—H
IEREFE  WEARRESKE
BREXFRENEE MM -
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2012 2011
HK$’'000 HK$'000
—E——F =E—==5F
FHER FAxT
Current tax: EHNIA ¢
Hong Kong &5 - 1,092
PRC Enterprise Income Tax FREMEMEH 6,855 139
6,855 1,231
Deferred taxation (Note 30) RAERIE (FEE30) (251) =
6,604 1,231
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the HRAESEREBEZE=-T—=—F+=A
Group did not have assessable profits for the year ended 31 =+ —HIEFEWEERBREFN - I E
December 2012. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of HEBNEV A REE -HE_T——F
the estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31 December T A=tT—BIEFEZEANETRE
2011, e ERBURFIZ16.5% 2 BIEFTH o
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law") BEPECEMESRE([REMER
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the EDREERBBIEZBRHEG - FBIH
PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards. BREAZEENF—A—HEBZMEA
25% °
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates REfh ALERE R E 4 2 BiIRIR B B 5l A

prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions. & BITHERETE -
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The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before tax
per the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as follows:

FAZHRIERAY BEEREE2EBERAYZ
BRETAT R A SRR

2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E——F **E
Profit before tax BR A% Al g A 9,161 6,852
Tax at the domestic income tax rate BRAM TSR E25%
of 25% (2011: 25%) ( T——1F : 25%):tE 2 RIE 2,290 1,713
Tax effect of expenses not deductible SMBRA BT E
for tax purpose 1,654 5,200
Tax effect of income not taxable BARBIWA 2RI R 2
for tax purpose (1,256) (1,174)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax loss FRBBEE M E (41) (3,036)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERZ IS EIB 2 TS ?7.5. 3,265 229
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries FEH M aAERAL 2 HBA
operating in other jurisdictions RATREE 72 692 (1,701)
Income tax expenses for the year FRMEBRX 6,604 1,231

Details of deferred taxation are set out in Note 30.

No dividend was paid or proposed during 2012, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period
(2011: nil).

The calculation of the basic (loss) earnings per share is based on
the loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$2,932,000 (2011: profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$5,896,000)
and on the weighted average number of 2,431,670,845 (2011:
2,197,980,777) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The computation of diluted earnings per share does not assume the
exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options because the
exercise price of those options is higher than the average market
price for shares for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011.

TR BB MIEE30 ©

ARRN ZF— —FWEIR A SRR A
IRE - B AR HR DA SR SR (£ e i
B(ZE——F |-

BREXR(ER) B DBRERNRRES
AFEMEFEANEE42,932,0008 T (==
—— & ARQRHAEARGEERNZFL
5,896,000 7T ) R F A E B 17 E @A
HEF19%2,431,670,8450% (— T ——4 :
2,197,980,777f) st E o

BE_FT —_FRZ-F——FTHA
=+—HIEFE - ARADRRAKITER
B2 TEESRRDFHE - BEHE
R E B VB I AR AR R S IR AR T
f& o
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Construction  Plantand  Furniture Office Motor
Buildings inprogress machinery and fixtures equipment  vehicles Total
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BF HEIR HEREE HARRE ROZRG "E @zt
THL TAL THL TAL THL T TEx

cost KA
At 1 January 2011 R-B——%-F—H - - - 155 871 1,308 2,334
Exchange realignment R AR 77 3 31 - 3 3 17
Additions NE - - 106 65 22 = 193
Acquired on acquisition of  WEMEB RIS

subsidiaries 40,580 1,525 10,440 58 - 1,278 53,881
Written off bk = = = = (329) = (329)
Disposal HE - - - - (193) = (193)
At31December 2011and ~ RZZE——F+-A=+-H

1 January 2012 k=Z-—%—-R-H 40,657 1,528 10,577 278 374 2,589 56,003
Exchange realignment ERAZ 223 2 58 1 9 10 303
Additions RNE 3,475 - 172 26 8 468 4,149
Acquired on acquisition BN B A RRAE

of subsidiaries - - - - - 1,043 1,043
Written off fiis# = = = (155) (261) - (416)
Transfer R 1,530 (1,530 - - - - -
At 31 December 2012 RZE-——%+-f=1—H 45,885 - 10,807 150 130 4,110 61,082
DEPRECIATION ik
At 1 January 2011 WZE-——F—-A—H = = = 115 769 879 1,763
Exchange realignment B 5 R - - - - 3 - 3
Provided for the year EREE 1,097 - 259 9 20 138 1,523
Eliminated on written off biGElERags = = = = (321) = (321)
Eliminated on disposal HE R 5 = = = = (193) = (193)
At31December2011and ~ WZZ——F+-A=1—-H

1 January 2012 “E2--%-f-H 1,097 - 259 124 278 1,017 2,775
Exchange realignment s 43 - 6 2 9 1 61
Provided for the year FREE 4,571 - 1,064 2 7 678 6,347
Eliminated on written off biblER g = = = (122) (183) = (305)
At 31 December 2012 R-B——&+-A=+-H 5711 - 1,329 31 m 1,696 8,878
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2012 W-E-——%+-A=+-H 40,174 = 9,478 119 19 2,414 52,204

At 31 December 2011 WZE——F+ZA=1—-H 39,560 1,528 10,318 154 9% 1,572 53,228
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The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term of the
lease, or 20 years
Plant and machinery 10%

10%-33.33%
10%-20%
16.67%-33.33%

Furniture and fixtures
Office equipment
Motor vehicles

As at 31 December 2012, the building ownership certificates
of all buildings situated in the PRC under short lease have not
been granted by relevant government authorities with the
aggregate carrying values of approximately HK$40,174,000 (2011
HK$39,560,000). In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the absence of building ownership certificates to these buildings
does not impair the value of the relevant buildings to the Group.
The directors of the Company also believe that building ownership
certificates to these buildings will be granted to the Group in due
course.

Analysed for reporting purposes as IS MIEL 2 24T
Current asset MENEE
Non-current asset EmBEE

The prepaid lease payment represents payment under an operating
lease for the right to occupy and use of a land situated in the PRC
under short lease. The amount will be amortised throughout the
remaining lease period.

FiiE  BENMREEERIBEEGEE
UL T EEHRIE -

BF AHEHR T4

ABRE & A%
8RB Kt 28 10%
ERTWNE S 10%-33.33%
EHNEE 10%-20%
B 16.67%-33.33%

RNZB——E+-A=+—08 " B@BH
HEAMAREEEMAR T RIZEHE
NIBEBZEFZMEMBGRERK - HBR
I E#)/A40,174,0008 T (— T ——4F :
39,560,000 7T) c ARFIESZERAE K
ERZEEFIOEMBRRTESAE
EEBEEFEERE ARABESEINE
7 AEEBEREESRERZEET Y
MEFBREMR -

2012 2011

HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—_F =Ee—=—=

FET FET

24 24

178 202

202 226

ENEEEAREHEOMEIG R RER
—IRALR A B 2 3 2 A T AR IR AR R
WXtz B - ZEFIAFRFAERAN
B
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FAIR VALUE
At 1 January 2011
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss

At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012

Fair value change recognised in profit or loss
Reclassification to investment property classified
as held for sale (Note 26)

ATE
s RER Y ATES

RZZE——F+=ZA=+—HK
e

FRFIRERZ A FEES

BN BEAFELENREYE
(Fizx26)

HK$'000
TAT

1,500
420

1,920
1,080

(3,000)

At 31 December 2012

The fair value of the Group’s investment property at 31 December
2011 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out
on that date by LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited, independent
qualified professional valuers not connected to the Group. LCH
(Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited are members of the Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors. The valuation was arrived at using the
direct comparison method, by reference to market evidence of
transaction prices for similar property.

On 10 December 2012, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to dispose
of an investment property at a consideration of HK$3,000,000.
Accordingly, the relevant property interest of HK$3,000,000 was
reclassified from investment property to investment property
classified as held for sale in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2012.

The above investment property is located in Hong Kong and held
under medium-term lease.

RZZE——F+=-A=+—H =

RZZE——F+ZA=+—0  A5@%
BMEZ AV EREREEN EHE S
VEERBEEMLEMANERITAEMERD
AR BETZEERE » FIBRITAI S
BERARRBENEMBESSE - HRAM
ERAERLBZEZ2ZERENERSEZ
MIZRELET °

RZE—=—F+=R+H FrEEHE—-F
BYE=FFINEEHE  UWHEREY
% . WL NREA3,000,00087T ° Bt
R-B——F+-_RA=+—B2HaH%
ARMEZ A - E{E3,000,00078 T EED
ERSAREVESTHEABEHEN
REME -

LR EMEMNER - LAS HAE L
5o
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FELTRAE S

Unlisted equity securities
Less: impairment losses recognised

In 2002, the Group, through an acquisition of a wholly-owned
subsidiary, acquired 30,000,000 promoters’ shares in Beijing
Beida Jade Bird Universal Sci-Technology Company (“BBJB")
(the “Promoters’ Shares”) of RMBO.1 each at a consideration of
HK$38,250,000, which is equivalent to 2.53% of total issued share
capital (including H shares and Promoters’ Shares) of BBJB.

BBJB is a joint stock company with limited liability incorporated in
the PRC with its H shares listed on the Growth Enterprise Market
of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Board”). The Promoters’ Shares
were unlisted share capital issued by BBJB when it was initially
listed on the GEM Board in 2000. According to the Company Law
in the PRC, the Promoters’ Shares were not transferable within
three years from the date of incorporation of BBJB on 29 March
2000. In the absence of active market, the Promoters’ Shares
are measured at cost less impairment at the end of the reporting
period because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so
significant that the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that their fair values cannot be measured reliably.

The directors of the Company were of the opinion that the
recoverable amount of the available-for-sale investments was
significantly below its original cost, an impairment loss of
HK$30,750,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income in prior years. At 31 December 2012, the
carrying amount of available-for-sale investments of approximately
HK$7,500,000 (2011: HK$7,500,000), net of impairment loss of
available-for-sale investments of approximately HK$30,750,000
(2011: HK$30,750,000).

B DR REEE

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$'000
—E——F ZE——F
FET FHET
38,250 38,250
(30,750) (30,750)
7,500 7,500

REZZZZF  AEEZBKE—RH2E
BB A7) > LA38,250,0005 TR EE A
30,000,000 %3t mIbL A& B IR FERHEK
DERAR(TIEAETE) BREEAR
B0 1L Z BB AR ([ B ARG ) -
BERIEASE SEBITRALRE (B IEH
AR IR BB ARR19)2.53% o

IERERA/RHBEEMA LB R
REAR > EHBREBRAAIFR(TAIR
R EM » BFRARDBIEAT/IN -Z
ETFHRAERIER EMEEITZIFLET
B - RIBPBEREE - BERARMDBI
ARESRZZEEZF=F TN HZMK
VR =FATEEZR - HRNRZIEEM
15 BEARODNIRE HRIZKABURE
FTE - AARASEAFEMFSEAKR - K
AAEERREEA EMTEHEARND
ZRFAE

ARREERAE  AJHEEREZA
WESHERERERKAEA  WERB
AFEEEGREA2ERERERUES
830,750,000 L - R =T — = F
+ZA=+—H B EREZIRE
B4 &7,500,0008 L (=L ——F :
7,500,000% 7T) - ERE MR HRE
[E518 430,750,000 L (=T — —4F
30,750,000587T) °
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2012 2011

HKS$°000 HK$'000

—E——F =E—==5F

FTHER TET

At 1 January ®n—H—H 36,365 -
Exchange realignment [ 5 364 -
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33)  UrR&H /B A m &4 (M15E33) - 36,365
At 31 December R+—_B=+—H 36,729 36,365

Goodwill from acquisition of Suntech Worldwide Limited
("Suntech”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Suntech
Group”) was allocated to the Group’s cash generating unit
("CGU") of manufacture and sale of coal.

The basis of the recoverable amount of the CGU and the major
underlying assumptions are summarised below:

The recoverable amount of this CGU has been determined on
the basis of value-in-use calculation with reference to a valuation
performed by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory
Limited, independent qualified professional valuers not connected
to the Group. The calculation uses cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management of the Group covering
a 5 years period and discount rate of 16.20% (2011: 15.01%).
Cash flow beyond the 5 years period have been extrapolated using
a steady 3% (2011: 3%) growth rate. This growth rate is based
on industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the average
long-term growth rate for the relevant industry. The directors of
the Company were of the opinion that the recoverable amount is
exceeded its respective carrying amount as at 31 December 2012,
and no impairment loss of goodwill was necessary.

WEEERRBR AR (EE]) REM
BAR(FE[EEEE ) ELEZRHER
DEEREEIGERIHERRK CREGEE
BU([REEELEM]) -

BeEABNATKESHE EERE B
WS T

RS ELENAREISE2RERE
B ERE B A EREEGEMTE
BT ETERERABERARETZM
B REAEBEFEREEET - ZiT8EH
EHEFEAREHASEEEEME AT
B BEE IR E1620% (=%
——F 15.01%)stE 2B REEA -
AFHHEZRESREEAFEZ3I% (=
T——F 3% ) EREREE o IERET)
RBITHEIERIBAGE - WEBLMARAT
¥R ER - ARBEERA
ARESEBHER T ——F+_A
=t+—HZAEREE  WEFHERE
BUEEE o



For the year ended 31 December 2012 HE=—F——F+=—HA=+—HIFZF

2012 2011
HK$000 HK$'000
=F-=F —F——%
FET AT
Raw materials and consumables R K} B2 B #E 843 1,585
Finished goods 2IRK T 20,596 1,613
21,439 3,198
The Group allows an average credit period normally ranging RNEFBBLTFEHEP Z2EHZEE—HBN
from 30 days to 120 days (2011: 30 days to 90 days) to its trade F30HZ120HB(=ZZF——4%F : 30HZE90
customers. The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables B)ZM e LT ARFERHR(DNAESEK
(net of allowance for doubtful debt) presented based on the invoice =R EE)EREEAHE 2 EUIRIRR
date at the end of the reporting period, which approximated the (BB RIEERE )RR DIT - NEBEIW &
respective revenue recognition date. The Group does not hold any EEZEER AR SG -
collateral over these balances.
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
B —T——4F
FERT FHT
0-30 days 0%30H 2,868 29,033
31-60 days 31£60H 186 326
61-90 days 61%90H 13 5
91-120 days 91%120H 43,805 1,342
Over 120 days Hi@E120H 10,830 -
Trade receivables JE IR 3R 57,702 30,706
Bills receivables FEWE R 2,455 =
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables e FEREIEREHA
FEWFRIA 8,917 1,760
69,074 32,466
Included in the Group's trade receivable balance are debtors with AREEEWIRIESTBIEAREEN A
aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$54,635,000 54,635,000/ (= F——% : 1,342,000
(2011: HK$1,342,000) which were past due at the end of the BT 2 EUIRR - RIEHIRE B -
reporting period and for which the Group has not provided for BEARE B L RIREHE R -

doubtful debt.
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The aging analysis of trade receivables that are past due but not
impaired is as follow:

91-120 days
Over 120 days

91&120H
#iB120H

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to
a wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired related
to a number of independent customers that have a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience, the management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of
these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

There is no movement in allowance for doubtful debts of trade
receivables during the year ended 31 December 2011 and 31
December 2012.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses a system to
assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed on
a regular basis.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group’s trade receivables
are individually determined to be impaired. The individually
impaired receivables are recognised based on the credit history of
its customers, such as financial difficulties or default in payments,
and current market conditions.

A=+ —HIFE

£ i HAME SORUE 2 8 IR TR R B o AT a0
™

2012 2011
HKS$’000 HK$'000
—%-=% -
43,805 1,342
10,830 -
54,635 1,342

R ER TR ORGP MR K04 B A A S
RARBBELZEEBEP °

EaHESRREZ BEIRF RS BRAE
= E lﬁﬁi&%&éﬁ%ﬂﬁZ%ﬁ@ﬁ o R

E&E - BEERE AaRNEEERY
ﬂékﬁm ZERBRIRR SR 2ER
B - BEFE LU EARET IR ERE -

BE-2—%+-A=f-AR-%
CSFI=AStOALRE - EKER
2 RIEREHRE

ERMEMFFHELA - AEBRE R
RAGEEREFPZEEER YERRFP
ZIEERE BEFPZEERBNEHE
1% o

REREHR - AEBRERER K EK
IRRETE ARE - 85I ERE < KR
KREZPZEERLHE (MNP BRERK
HR) R E RO HER o
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23.

24.

HELD FOR TRADING INVESTMENTS 23. 5ERZRE
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
=2-—=F —F——%
TET FET
Held for trading investments: FHEZXHKRE -
- Equity securities listed in Hong Kong - BB L 2 IRARFE 21,272 27,956

Held-for-trading investments are stated at fair value. The fair
value of the listed securities has been determined by reference
to published price quotations in active markets. Loss on fair
value change of held-for-trading investments of approximately
HK$2,233,000 (2011: HK$1,423,000) has been recognised in profit
or loss during the year ended 31 December 2012.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group disposed
of certain listed securities and realised loss on held for trading
investments of approximately HK$4,416,000 has been
recognised in profit or loss (2011: realised gain of approximately
HK$24,359,000).

DEPOSITS PLACED WITH SECURITY BROKERS

The deposits placed with securities brokers carry interest ranging
from 0.001% to 0.1% per annum and are repayable on demand for
the year ended 31 December 2011.

24.

BERGBERAFEIR - LhHHFZ
AFEDESEFRMS 2 CRRKREE
EoBEZE——F+-A=1+—HILF
EERBRESRERFEIZRERNTEE
&) 7 E518492,233,0008 0 (=2 ——%F :
1,423,000 7T) °

RBE-ZE——-—F+-_A=+—HLHF
B AEBLERETLEMES  WER
BIEEBEREEIELN4L416,0008 7T -
WHRIBRER(ZZ——F : FHRED
24,359,000/8 7T °

FHREZELTZER

RNEBEZE-_ZE—F+-_A=+—8 " X
REFELITZTFHIRFEFE N T0.001
EZX01EE  BAREEREE -
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Bank balances and cash comprises cash held by the Group and
bank balances that are interest-bearing at prevailing market
interest rates ranging from 0.001% to 2.150% (2011: 0.01% to
2%) per annum and have original maturity of three months or less.

Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts
which are subject to foreign exchange control regulations or not
freely transferable:

Amounts denominated in:
HK$ BIT
RMB AR#E

On 10 December 2012, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to dispose of an
investment property at a cash consideration of HK$3,000,000.
Accordingly, the investment property of HK$3,000,000 was
reclassified to investment property classified as held for sale in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2012. The aforesaid disposal had been completed on 28 February
2013.

AT B FHEZ 50R

BITERERSBEASEEMBES R
RITHER  RBITMBEFNE0.001EE
2150E(=ZF——F : 0.01EE2[E )&t
B BRIBAA=M@ANKINAT -

RITHEBRRIBSPFIAATEZINEE H
HBIBR FI KA B 882 50 ¢

2012 2011

HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—_—F =88—==

FET FET

2,851 44,761

152 832

3,003 45,593

RZZT——F+-A+H xEEHE—F
BYFE=FENEBEE WS NLEREY
¥ - W& MR{EA3,000,00078 7T » ALt
RN-B——F+-A=1+—B2HAH%
MORER A - {B1E3,000,0008 TTHIRE Y
XSO BEABFELENREYE - Al
HEER-E—=F"F -+ N\HxK -
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The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

0-30 days 0%30H

31-60 days 31260H
61-90 days 61£290H
Over 90 days #B3B90H
Trade payables FE IR K

Accrued charges and other payables

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 days. The
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure
that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

As at 31 December 2012, included accrued charges and
other payables of approximately HK$9,416,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB7,673,000) (2011: HK$42,229,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB34,597,000)) were amount due to a former
shareholder of a subsidiary of Suntech. The balance is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

The amount was unsecured and non-trade in nature, carried
interest at 8% per annum and repayable within 1 year. A director
of a subsidiary is also the director of the related company.

The amount is unsecured, non-trade in nature and repayable on
demand other than an amount of approximately HK$36,460,000
(2011: HK$21,000,000) carries interest at 2% (2011: 2%) over
Hong Kong prime rate per annum, the remaining balance is
interest-free.

——F+ A+ AR

FERT B R R H & 5RIA

AT ARRERRREZALS 2 BN
IRFRIRER AT
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E——F ZE——F
FTHET FHET
716 571
- 6
9 1
4,736 968
5,461 1,546
31,531 57,232
36,992 58,778

BECZTHEERRIOR - AEERE
REVEREEERBOR - BRAA EANR
EHREEHRES

RN—_E——F+_A=+—8 " E#HB
Ko Hh JE {5 FRIE 499,416,000 7% T (18
WHANR#7,673,0007T) (28— —
$ 42,229,000 T(HERDHD AR
34,597,0007T) ) P BIEENEE KB
NEIRIRE A - ZEHABERR 28
RIBFEZKIER -

JHEE%

ZHERBEANEIESEE - REF
KB R MAR—FRNERE - —HMEB
REAZEETRAMERRZES -

ZREREERR  FEHUERBEEX
B8 - B—%F A H 436,460,000 (=
T ——%£ : 21,000,000 7T ) Z RIEIRF
MEEBZEEMNEME(ZZ——F -
2B)E BN RN ARERAREEXK

i -

=
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The major deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised and
movements thereof during the current year and prior year are
summarised below:

Accelerated

tax
depreciation
HK$'000
iz
BIATE
THET
At 1 January 2011 R-_ZE——F—H—H 55
(Credit) charge to consolidated BERA2EMER
statement of comprehensive (Gt )k
income (6)
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries 4 B& B 2 B8F FTS =
At 31 December 2011 and R-ZT——%
1 January 2012 TZRA=T—HEK
—2——-%—f—H 49
(Credit) charge to consolidated BERAzEEER
statement of comprehensive income (3t A)#1k% (6)
At 31 December 2012 RZE——%F
+=ZA=+-H 43

At 31 December 2012, the Group has estimated unutilised tax
losses of approximately HK$153,166,000 (2011: HK$140,306,000)
available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of estimated unutilised tax losses
of approximately HK$261,000 (2011: HK$297,000). No deferred
tax asset has been recognised of the remaining tax losses due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in the
estimated unutilised tax losses of approximately HK$152,905,000
(2011: HK$140,009,000), approximately HK$152,783,000 (2011:
HK$139,856,000) may be carried forward against future taxable
income indefinitely under the current tax legislation in Hong Kong.
The remaining estimated unutilised tax losses attributable to a
subsidiary in Singapore amounted to approximately HK$122,000
(2011: HK$153,000)of which the use is subject to the agreement of
the tax authority and compliance with certain provision of the tax
legislation in Singapore.

MRAFER EFEERZTBELEHRER

Revaluation
of property,
plant and
Tax losses  equipment Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
/E =
BBER REEM st
TET TET TET
(55) - -
6 - —
= 2,403 2,403
(49) 2,403 2,403
6 (251) (251)
(43) 2,152 2,152

RZEBE——FE+-A=+—H  XEFTF
YRR & 2 G RS AHBEE
B #4)4153,166,0008 L (=T ——F :
140,306,000 7T )  AK BB ghilar K
B A IS EE4261,0008T (T ——
£ : 297,000 ) RABELEFRBEEE -
RARAREETER BE 2 & TR - MAKE
WERSR TRISEIEERECHBEEE -
TR E) AR B 18 49152,905,000%
T (=ZZ——4F : 140,009,000 0 ) &
f v #9152,783,000/8 C(—F—— 4 ¢
139,856,000 7T ) IRIE BB 1THIE ]
MR ARAESE - DU AR R ER B - E
M AR RB RIS EIEF BN —HE N
¥HWBARF @+ AEH122,0008L(=F
——4 :153,000%7C) * BAXKERGE
BAKTHBRE @ WARFAFMEF AN
BTG -
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Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each SMREMEC.05E T2 B
Authorised: EE

At 1 January 2011, Rn—ZE—F—A—A8"

31 December 2011,

1 January 2012 and

31 December 2012

—T-—F—A—HBK

ERITRAR:
R-—ZE——F—HF—H
AWENRB AR (MiE33)

21T AR5

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 2011
Issue of shares for the acquisition of
subsidiaries (Note 33)

At 31 December 2011, N—T——F+—f=+—H -

1 January 2012 and —ET——-F—A—HK

31 December 2012 —E——H+-_HA=+—H

On 23 September 2011, 321,875,000 new shares (“Consideration
Shares”) of the Company were issued at HK$0.08 each as part of the
consideration of the acquisition of Suntech. The Consideration Shares
were recognised as fully paid upon completion of the acquisition.

These shares rank pari passu in all respects with the existing shares.

The 2012 scheme

On 22 May 2012, the Company adopted the 2012 Scheme (the
“2012 Scheme”) under which the board of directors of the
Company may at its discretion offer to any director of the Company
(including non-executive director), employee, suppliers, customers,
any person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group, shareholders of any member
of the Group or any entity in which the Group holds an equity
interests and any other group or classes of persons or entities
who have contributed to the development and growth of the
Group (“Participant”) to subscribe for shares in the Company in
accordance with the terms of the 2012 Scheme. The principal
purpose of the 2012 Scheme is to provide incentive or rewards for
the participant’s contributions to the Group.

—T——%+_A=t—8H"

—F——_#F#+-RA=+—H

Number
of shares Share capital
‘000 HK$'000
R#HEE &S
T 1% FET
50,000,000 2,500,000
2,109,796 105,490
321,875 16,094
2,431,671 121,584

R-ZZTE——FAA-+=H &ARQF
321,875,000 ¥ A% ([RERH D IZER
0.08B LT tERWERGEZHH»R
& - RERODPINEEKFERBER -

ZERMAESHTEARBRN ZFE RS

Zs o

—E-_F5E

RZE——FRA-+=H ' KRAIRMN
TE-FHE(ZZE——F58])
Bt - AARESFEARNEREMARR
EE(PREIFNTES) &S - HED -
BF - AASEBERMENE - AESHMmE
MRz M ALHERE - NEEEMK
B AR RS A S B AR 2
BRUARASARER 2 BEREKRIED TR
ZAEMEMARSIER AT EE (2
HE |VIRSERE  UWRE-T——F:t
B2 ERRBARRR 2D - ZT—=F
FEZEEENERN MBS RESEE R
REBIELER -
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The 2012 scheme (Continued)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the 2012 Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company in issue as at the date of
adoption of the 2012 Scheme, unless a refresh approval from the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained. However, the
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
2012 Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
shall not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time.

The subscription price of the option shares granted under the 2012
Scheme shall be a price to be determined by the directors of the
Company being not less than the higher of (i) the closing price
of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of grant; (iii) the nominal
value of a share.

The total number of shares issued and may be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to any individual under the 2012 Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company must not
exceed 1% of the shares in issue.

The 2012 Scheme does not contain any requirement of a minimum
period and the board of directors of the Company may in its
absolute discretion impose a minimum period requirement for
each option granted will be made by the board of directors of
the Company on a case by case basis and will not be made to the
advantage of the Participants.

The 2012 Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years
commencing from the date of adoption of the 2012 Scheme to 21
May 2022, after which no further options will be granted but the
options which are granted during the life of the 2012 Scheme may
continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue
and the provisions of the 2012 Scheme shall in all other respects
remain in full force and effect in respect thereof.

—E-—F58m

EHiRE T — —Ft 8 AR T EAM
FEARERT B TR D 2 B BRI T(E
MR REEE 1T Z IR 1D B8R - TEBBIRM—
T-—FHEAHARRBERITRAZ
10% -+ e B AN R A) AR 35 4L & Bl Bk
Gh o SR - EARIE —T— —FEHEIRAR
AIE A EAA BT IR B F1IEm
RITEZ A BIRERITER I REEIT Y
BhE=mEE @ AETEBBARARTR
BETRAZ30% °

RIBE-ZT-_FHERE 2BRERNZ
RBEARARREZTEEZER T
BERAT=FHERSE : ()NRHAH
(AREER)EMRZME A REXRTHAHR
ARBBM 2 WHE - (DRERFEE A S
AIAER S B EBR IS A RERAEA
AR 2 FHWTE (i)t 2 E{E

ARE T —FF 8 RARREAEM
FERRERT SR T (ETELA 2 BT (£
MEITRAEETZRMDEE > TFHEE
BEETRMNZ1% °

T FHEYEHEEMRIERRZ
BRE - MARRERS A 2EBIBEHRER
ERBHR - R L EShBRE RIERS
EHRSHESTSRIRABEREE - BT
FR2EEZNEMELGERE -

R C—FHEBERN T ——F:E
BfREE—"ZT-_—FRA-+—HI+F
N—EAX ' WEBTEE— TR EER
o ERZE-ZFFEFEARRE Y
BERR R AR R L B AT IR TR B T AT T (8
B Fir el G EmB EM T E
HIRB+ RN RIEA -
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The 2012 scheme (Continued)

Options granted under the 2012 Scheme must be taken up within
21 days of the date of grant. Upon acceptance of the option, the
grantee shall pay HK$1 to the Company as consideration for the
grant.

No share options had been granted or exercised under the 2012
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2012. No share
options had been lapsed during the year ended 31 December 2012.

The 2002 Scheme

On 18 March 2002, the Company adopted the 2002 Scheme
(the “2002 Scheme"”) under which the board of directors of the
Company may at its discretion offer to any director of the Company
(including non-executive director), employee, suppliers, customers,
any person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group, shareholders of any member
of the Group or any entity in which the Group holds an equity
interests and any other group or classes of persons or entities
who have contributed to the development and growth of the
Group (“Participant”) to subscribe for shares in the Company in
accordance with the terms of the 2002 Scheme. The principal
purpose of the 2002 Scheme is to provide incentive or rewards for
the participant’s contributions to the Group.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the 2002 Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company in issue as at the date of
adoption of the 2002 Scheme, unless a refresh approval from the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained. However, the
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
2002 Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
shall not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time.

——F+ A+ AR

—E-—F58m

RE-_T——F5ERE 2BEREAR
B A BE21RAREE o R RE
B ARABAARRBAMNUET - R
EREREZRE -

RBE_FT-——F+_A=1t—HLF
B MEBRERE T —FrrERE
FITE -RBE_T——F+-_A=1+—
BLEFE - BHERBARERR -

—EECFEE

RZZFZ-_F=A+/\B  KRFHRH =
TEE_FHE(ZFZT_F58]) &
o ARREFEARBRAEANARRE
=(BRIFNTER)  RE  -HER T
F - AASERHERT RS E AR
SEZEMATHER - AKEEMKE
RAZBERIAEEFEEREZEFNE
BURRAEE 2 HREKRELERZ
R EAARRRIER 2 ALK B ([2 8
EDRZBRE  URE_TT _F51E
ZIEFRBARB 2B - —TF 45t
o TEEMAER BN ER2RERR
SEEHER -

ERIE =TT ZF5 & AR e E A EH A
FERREETEIHS TR D 2 B AR AT (E

BT RGBE - TSBAERM—
ST _FHEAHPARRBERITRAZ
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Hho AT ARRBEZSZ ZFFERAA
AIE A EA BT EIR L BB FrIEm
RITEZ B BIER T ER I REEIT Y
BHE=EE @ ARTEBBEARDRTR
BEEITRAZ230% °©
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The 2002 Scheme (Continued)

The subscription price of the option shares granted under the 2002
Scheme shall be a price to be determined by the directors of the
Company being not less than the higher of (i) the closing price
of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of grant; (iii) the nominal
value of a share.

The total number of shares issued and may be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to any individual under the 2002 Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company must not
exceed 1% of the shares in issue.

The 2002 Scheme does not contain any requirement of a minimum
period and the board of directors of the Company may in its
absolute discretion impose a minimum period requirement for
each option granted will be made by the board of directors of
the Company on a case by case basis and will not be made to the
advantage of the Participants.

The 2002 Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years
commencing from the date of adoption of the 2002 Scheme to 17
March 2012, after which no further options will be granted but the
options which are granted during the life of the 2002 Scheme may
continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue
and the provisions of the 2002 Scheme shall in all other respects
remain in full force and effect in respect thereof.

Options granted under the 2002 Scheme must be taken up within
21 days of the date of grant. Upon acceptance of the option, the
grantee shall pay HK$1 to the Company as consideration for the
grant.

At 31 December 2012, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the
2002 Scheme was 118,442,807 (2011: 118,442,807), representing
4.87% (2011: 4.87%) of the shares of the Company in issue at that
date.

A=+ —HIFE

—EE_F5Em)
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(M%Mﬁﬁ)ﬁ FX P R RERT AR
ARBBM 2 WHE - (DRERFEL A S
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32.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 32. BRAESTE ()
The 2002 Scheme (Continued) “EEFEE W)
For the year ended 31 December 2012 BE-—2——-—F+-A=t+—HLEE
The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share THEEBAATRE-_ZZT -FH2FLE
options granted under the 2002 Scheme during the year ended 31 JEERERNEE_E——F+=_A=1—
December 2012: BIEFEZEEER -
Number of share options
BREHA
Outstanding Granted Lapsed  Outstanding
Date Exercisable Exercise at during during at
of grant period price 1.1.2012 the year theyear  31.12.2012
R=B-=f R=B-Zf
-B-H +=R=+-H
REAH (g TEE AT FRR FRAM HARTE
Other eligible persons 5.10.2004 5.10.2004 t0 5.10.2014 0317 5,618,729 - - 5,618,729
HAEERAL —EEIME —ZEMETARAE
+AEE “Z-MFETARA
26.9.2005 26.9.2005 to0 25.9.2015 0.3695 67,649,498 - - 67,649,498
e 3 ZEERENAZTAAE
AAZtAAE  —E-RFAA-TEA
20.8.2007 20.8.2007 t0 20.8.2017 0.6275 27,194,648 - - 27,194,648
ZETLE “TEEEN\AZTAZE
NA=+H ZE—tFN\AZFH
7.9.2007 7.9.2007 t0 7.9.2017 0.685 13,484,949 - - 13,484,949
e 8 3 “TELFENALRE
NLAtA “T—tENALHR
28.9.2007 28.9.2007 to0 28.9.2017 0.7385 4,494,983 - - 4,494,983
e “ZRHENAZT\BE
RAZ+NB  ZE—+FAA-t/\H
Total 118,442,807 - - 118,442,807
@it
Exercisable at the end of
the year 118,442,807

RERTFLTRE

Weighted average exercise

price (HK$) 0.476 - - 0.476
MEFHTRECET)
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The 2002 Scheme (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2011
The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share
options granted under the 2002 Scheme during the year ended 31

“EE_F5Ewm

BE-—2——5+-A=t+-HLEE
TEBBEAAARE ST —F25H
ZHEEEREZE T ——F+ - A=+—

December 2011: AEFEZEEER
Number of share options
BiRiESE
Outstanding Granted Lapsed  Outstanding
Exercise at during during at
Date of grant  Exercisable period price 1.1.2011 the year the year  31.12.2011
RZE—% R-F——%F
—-A—-H +ZA=1+-8
=k 76 i HATTEE FRRL FRERN RIATTER
Employees 5.10.2004 5.10.2004 t0 5.10.2014 0.317 224,749 = (224,749) =
& —TEIMF —ZEMETARRE
+AER —T-MF+ARA
26.9.2005 26.9.2005 to0 25.9.2015 0.3695 1,168,696 = (1,168,696) =
Z2THE “EERFNAZTRBE
NAZ+A”A  ZE-REAAZT+AA
20.8.2007 20.8.2007 to 20.8.2017 0.6275 20,227,425 - (20,227,425) =
Z2RLE “ERHEN\AZTAHE
NA=+H “Z—+FN\A=TH
Sub-total 21,620,870 - (21,620,870) -
ot
Other eligible persons 5.10.2004 5.10.2004 t0 5.10.2014 0.317 5,618,729 - - 5,618,729
HERERAL —TEIME “ZEMETARER
+ARA “Z-MFE+ARA
26.9.2005 26.9.2005 to 25.9.2015 0.3695 67,649,498 - - 67,649,498
ZZTRE ZETRFNAZTRER
AMAZTRBE ZE-LFAAZTEA
20.8.2007 20.8.2007 t0 20.8.2017 0.6275 27,194,648 = - 27,194,648
S 3 ZTELFNAZTHE
NA=+H “Z—+FN\AZTH
7.9.2007 7.9.2007 t0 7.9.2017 0.685 13,484,949 = = 13,484,949
S 3 ZZTEFNALRE
NAtA “E2—tFNALA
28.9.2007 28.9.2007 t0 28.9.2017 0.7385 4,494,983 - - 4,494,983
—TTtE “TELFNAZT\BE
NA=Z+NB  ZE—tFEAA-+/\B
Sub-total 118,442,807 - - 118,442,807
i
Total 140,063,677 - (21,620,870) 118,442,807
@zt
Exercisable at the end
of the year 118,442,807
RERATIR
Weighted average exercise
price (HK$) 0.495 - 0.611 0.476

IEFBITREET)
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The 2002 Scheme (Continued)

No share options had been granted or exercised under the 2002
Scheme during the two years ended 31 December 2011 and 2012.
No share options (2011: 21,620,870) had been lapsed during the
year ended 31 December 2012.

On 23 September 2011, the Group completed to acquire 55%
of the equity interests of Suntech Group for a consideration
of HK$45,750,000 from Great Soar Investments Limited (the
“Vendor”), an independent third party. This acquisition has been
accounted for using the purchase method. The amount of goodwill
arising as a result of the acquisition was HK$36,365,000. Suntech
Group is engaged in the manufacture and sales of coal. Suntech
Group was acquired so as to continue the expansion of the Group’s
business.

Consideration transferred

Cash B
Consideration Shares RABRRAD
Total consideration BRE

As part of the consideration for the acquisition of Suntech Group,
321,875,000 ordinary share of the Company with par value of
HK$0.05 each share were issued. The fair value of the ordinary
shares of the Company, determined using the published price
available at the date of the acquisition, amounted to HK$0.08 each
share. The Vendor has provided a profit guarantee amounting to
HK$18,000,000 to the Group for the period from 23 September
2011 to 22 September 2012. The Consideration Shares have also
been pledged to the Group in respect of this profit guarantee.
During the reporting period, Suntech Group had achieved the
profit guarantee. The Consideration Shares pledged to the Group
had been released to the Vendor on 21 December 2012.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$957,000 have been
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been
recognised as an expense in 2011, within the administrative expenses
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The fair
value of contingent consideration is zero at the date of inception and
as at 31 December 2011, which has been determined by a valuation
performed by an independent firm of professional valuers.

—EE-FrrEe)

REE-ZE——FR=_F—=—F+=A1
=+ BHLEMEFERTERE-_ST=
FHERESTZEBRE  MREE=F
——F+-_A=+—RAILFE - TEEK
HE(ZZT——4%F :21,620,87010) B KK -

R_ZE——FALA-+=8H  &&
@ e K M — %% %8 37 585 = A Great Soar
Investments Limited ([ & 5 |) WHE (5 &
E B2 55% 4 - KB R45,750,0008
7L o REINEEFERABEEAR - WEE
4 7 2 $ %8 536,365,0008 T © 53
SENERERHEERKRER - NEET)
REBHIREBMBEEFEESS -

EERERNAE

HK$'000
THET

20,000
25,750

45,750

321,875,000 R EEO0.058 T Z AR
AIEEREERET (ERNEEESEE Y
HoRE - ARAREBRZAFEARTR
0.08%7L  NIZWEBRBHZ AAMEE
7E o BB K B 1E 418,000,000
T2 wFRE  MER-T——FNA
“+=ZHEE_FE——FhLA=-+=HI
HAfA o B INE BE = TH & AR B R
FTAREE - MEPA - EEEEEER R
MRE - -RZFE—=F+=A=+—8
ERTFAEENRERMERITTES -

RZFE——45F - WEHEBEKA957,000%
TARBHADEHZRERN  WERGZESR
ERERZITEE ERBERAT L ° A
REZAFERBSHBVIER T —F
TZA=+—HBAZT  TMRRBUHEEM
BRTEITZHEET -
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Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the RUWEBARAFEWEB2EE
date of acquisition at fair value are as follows: EREIAZEEWT :
Acquiree’s
carrying Fair value
amount adjustment Fair value
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
WA 2
I & ARERE AF{E
FHET FHET FET

Net assets acquired of: B2 REE !

Property, plant and equipment ¥2 - E k& 44,270 9,611 53,881
Prepaid lease payment EfEE 231 - 231
Inventories ER 17,685 - 17,685
Trade and other receivables & U Zx & E 4th & I K18 11,016 - 11,016
Bank balances and cash RITHBR LR S 7,147 = 7,147
Trade and other payables P A1 R 3R R HL At JE S R IR (47,147) = (47,147)
Loan from a related party BB HER (23,346) = (23,346)
Deferred tax liabilities ELEBIAAE - (2,403) (2,403)
9,856 7,208 17,064

Goodwill arising on acquisition: WESFTEE 2EmE !
HK$'000
FET
Consideration transferred BEENRE 45,750

Plus: Non-controlling interests B0 JEFERERERS (PMSIEEE Y 45%E%)

(45% in Suntech Group) 7,679
Less: net assets acquired W BT A E (17,064)
Goodwill arising on acquisition (Note 20) WREFTEL 2 BE (M:F20) 36,365
Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Suntech Group is attributable R BEEEERES 2 BERNEER
to the anticipation profitability of the manufacture and sales of coal HERKER 2B RBREEN -
business.

w

FWBAES < BERB T A ENHA

o

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is expected to be
deductible for tax purposes.

@NH>
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Net cash outflow on acquisition of Suntech Group

WiIB S ERER 2B &R HFHE

HK$'000

FAT

Cash consideration paid ERNREESRE 20,000
Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired g : FTIEZ IR & RV L HEBER &EH (7,147)
12,853

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 December 2011 was
HK$152,000 attributable to the business generated by Suntech
Group. Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2011 included
HK$24,054,000 generated from Suntech Group.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2011, total
group revenue for the year ended 31 December 2011 was
HK$39,305,000 and profit for the year ended 31 December 2011
was HK$6,642,000. The pro forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessary an indication of revenue and
results of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2011,
nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit of the Group
had Suntech Group been acquired at 1 January 2011, the directors
of the Company have calculated depreciation of property, plant
and equipment acquired on the basis of the fair values arising in
the initial accounting for the business combination rather than
the carrying amounts recognised in the pre-acquisition financial
statements.

HE-_Z—F+_A=1+—BIFE
wHBREESEMEEZEBENZ
152,000 T - BE-_ZT——F+=-A
—t+—HIEFEREEEEESEMEL
224,054,000 7T °

WRBEEER _T——F—A—RB%xm
AEE—FT——F+_A=1+—HILFE
48 &= B U4 25 & 75 39,305,00078 7T © M A
E_E——F+-A=+—RBILFEHN
JiE /56,642,000 7T ° f5E & RHE (51 87
2R AR RAEBEREEEN =
——F—A—BERZBERTEERERZ
W RS - IR R R ESE -

BR-_ZF——F A HEWBEES
C REEAREEMEE | Fom e
ARRIESCRIATES B AR E
EZRFEFEARBYE - BB R&E
ZITE - MIFRRUIE AT T MR MR 2
IREERTH -
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34. AN ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 4. REEWBARZHE AT
ACCOUNTING FOR ASSET ACQUISITION BB EI1E
On 17 December 2012, the Group completed to acquire the entire N-ZE——F+-A++t0 K"&EEHEZ
equity interests of Hamford Enterprises Limited (“Hamford") Ke—2BYE = REEECEAR
from an independent third party, for a cash consideration of ARI(TEEDZ2E2HRE  HeREA
HK$100,000. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that 100,000 7T - AR ZEBR A WEEE
the acquisition of Hamford is in substance an asset acquisition, EE BN —BEEWESIE  MIEER
instead of a business combination, as the net assets included in A BAEEEEemEEFETER
Hamford was mainly the property, plant and equipment in Hong REBWEZEZYE  WMENKE -

Kong without operation.

The effect of the acquisition is summarised as follows: WBE z &R
HK$'000
FET
Net assets of Hamford acquired: BB BEFEE
Property, plant and equipment VI BB REE 1,043
Other payables H fth FE A 5RIE (943)
100
Satisfied by: #75= :
Cash consideration ReRE 100
Net cash outflow arising on the acquisition: W BB B 2 FHE 2 i

Cash consideration paid BENRERE 100
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On 16 September 2011, the Company completed to dispose of RZE——FALA+TB  XRAIZK
the entire equity interests in Harvest Growth Group Limited and M —% % 55 = FTargo Tech Limited (!
its subsidiary (“Harvest Growth Group”), at a consideration of & H ¥ Harvest Growth Group Limited &
HK$404,000 to Targo Tech Limited, an independent third party. HWE AR ([Harvest Growth&E ) 22
The net assets of Harvest Growth Group at the date of disposal SO HE - X {E A404,000% JT ° Harvest

were as follows: Growth&E BRI E R FEENT ¢
HK$'000

FHT

Consideration received in cash BYR S RE 404
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which KREZGEEZEEREBBES N :

control was lost:

16 September

2011

HK$'000

—E——fF

hA+<HB

FAET

Trade and other receivables R L R R e L A E LSRR 432

Bank balances and cash RITHBR LB 105

Accrued charge ErTEA (133)

Net assets disposal of FTHEZFEE 404

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMBARZWE !

Consideration received 2 URE 404

Net assets disposal of &2 FEE (404)

Released the exchange reserve upon disposal HH B R TR B 3 b 340

Gain on disposal & 340
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEMELEZRERAFE

Cash consideration ReRE 404

Bank balances and cash disposed of &2 RITEHRIRE (105)

299
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Note: During the period from 1 January 2011 to 16 September 2011, Harvest FEE - Eé:;?ffifﬁifai:%ff@m
Growth Group had contributed the Group of: ;%Eéﬁﬁaﬁ * Harvest Growth B2 /57
SEER -

16 September

2011
HK$'000
—E——F
hA+<H
FET
Turnover B -
Loss for the period AN E R 5,379
Cash outflow from operating activities HEEBRSRE 5,382
Jet Air Properties Limited, E-life International Holdings Limited, BT —FRUNREWEERAF
Honest Talents Limited, Glory Spread Holdings Limited, Ming m R B BRERR B BR A A ~ Honest Talents
Smart Development Limited, China Best Leasing Group Limited Limited » Glory Spread Holdings Limited -
and Clearmind Investments Limited had been inactive since Ming Smart Development Limited + China
their establishment in 2011. These subsidiaries were applied for Best Leasing Group Limited 2 Clearmind
deregistration by the directors of the Company in 2011 and the Investments Limited 2 &Z 42 1E%75 - 10—
deregistration has been completed in 2012. T—F  ZENBRAAEHARRES
AR YERZZT——F %K °
The Group as lessee ArEBEEREBEA
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for RERE IR - RNEERERN T5IHR E R
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating Z R HE L ERL 2 BIEREESAE
leases which fall due as follows: U
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—CfF —E——4F
FET FHET
Within one year —FR 1,846 1,685
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EERF(BEEEME) 1,705 3,035
3,551 4,720
Operating lease payments represent rentals by the Group for its LERH2HBE I AEERERLEWE
office properties. Leases are negotiated for a range of one to five YHRzEE c EpEmrAYzHEE—Z
years and rentals are fixed for a range of one to five years. hE - MR—ZERF2HBRN - HeeH

THEIE e
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At 31 December 2012, the Group provided a financial guarantee of
approximately HK$63,000 (2011: HK$60,000) to an independent
third party for assurance of their customers in the event they
default in payment.

Capital expenditure in respect of
construction of property, plant and
equipment contracted for but not
provided in the consolidated financial
statements

BEZDE BER
REBETREARFRX

The Group enrolled all Hong Kong employees in the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the MPF scheme, which
contribution is matched by the employees.

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC and Singapore
participate in defined contribution retirement schemes and CPF
Scheme organised by the relevant local government authorities
in the PRC and Singapore respectively. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a specified percentage of its payroll costs
to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
schemes is to make the specified contributions under these
schemes.

The total cost charged to consolidated statement of comprehensive
income of approximately HK$152,000 (2011: HK$186,000)
represents contributions payable to these schemes by the Group in
respect of the current accounting period.

BERIKERRERA MR

R-B——F+-_A=+—H KEEHR
REFSNEP (WESREZFHE)
M— 2B E=FIRE BV BERDY
63,0008 7L (—Z——4 :60,000/7T) °

2012 2011

HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-——F ===

FET FHET

10 500

AEECRERBALRESERE S
2o mEet B EERAREEEDH
BE - UHFEEANESTEAES - A&
BHZ AR AN AR 2 5% MR E 2 5T EIE
R - BBEER 2 R E -

REBNH B R INFEE 2B R R D
7l 2 B phy o B % 3 32 4 B 1t 75 KA P P
Bl 2 IWEHRFORNETEI NP RRERF
2 - ZEMBRARRRFNRAZIEER
7 He TR 48 B 51 B 4F A R A R R 48
Ao AEEAERKBHNAETEIHE—T
ERFHFTEEEZHRK -

REEEERERNGR Z2EKED
152,000 . ( —F —— 4% : 186,000/8
T EAREERA ST AR ENZETE
PR e



For the year ended 31 December 2012 &2 =& —

Apart from the balances disclosed in the Notes 28 and 29, the
Group also entered into the following transactions with related
parties:

(a)

(b)

(a)

(b)

During the year ended 31 December 2012, loan interest
of approximately HK$262,000 (2011: HK$609,000) and
HK$2,052,000 (2011: HK$125,000) was paid by the Group
to a related company and a non-controlling interest of a
subsidiary respectively.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company and other
members of key management during the year was as follows:

ySEUEER
BER 1218 F

Short-term benefits
Post-employment benefits

The remuneration of directors of the Company and key
executives is determined by the remuneration committee
having regards to the performance of individuals and market
trends.

On 31 January 2013, Jet-Air (H.K.) Limited (“Jet-Air"), a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
placing letter with KCG Securities Asia Limited to subscribe for
the convertible bonds and the promissory notes by North Asia
Resources Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, each in a principal amount of
US$7 million (equivalent to approximately HK$54.6 million)
respectively at their face values, which will be satisfied by
cash.

Details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 5
February 2013.

On 28 February 2013, the disposal of the investment property
classified as held for sale disclosed in Note 26 had been
completed.

33 ﬁufzs&wﬁﬂ)}z E 2 KERRIN

A=+ —HIFE

REH

INERRAE I TR S -

—
QL
~

(b)

RBEE-_ZE—=—F+=-_A=+—8H
WHFE AEER—HEEQAR

—EEBA ﬂ#fﬁ%&ﬁﬁ%ﬂiﬁ
BHF B 4262,0008 (=T ——
F: 609,000%73)&2,052,000/%73
(ZZ——4 : 125,000/67T) °

FEFEA S E

ARRAEBEZREMFEBTEAER
FAZHMEHOT :

2012 2011

HK$'000 HK$'000

—E——F —T——F

FET FAET

2,236 3,793

28 71

2,264 3,864
RAREZREZTHRAE Z W< B EHH
ZEG2EMAARBRMSBARET -

R—ZTBE—=F—A=+—H AR

A—HE2EWNBRARRREE(H
iﬂﬁﬁﬂﬂwﬁﬁn ELmﬁ
TMBR DRGSR E HHF
Eﬁ@wﬁﬁﬁéﬁhhﬁ@
A —REREXERETHAQ
WA BB ESREARZRE $i
%8 & /57,000,000 E 7T (M E R
54,600,000 7T) © MAEFURE
KAt o

HBEHNARRBSHA-E—=F
—RAABZRAMA -

RZBE—=%F_"A-+NH ®&5
HARBELENREYEHESE
LB - FIBEIEERME26 -
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43. THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 43. KD B 2 BT R R R
OF THE COMPANY

2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-—F —E——%F
FHBT FET
Non-current assets ERENEE
Plant and equipment B E &% - 343
Investments in subsidiaries RETB AR ZIZE 18 18
18 361
Current assets REEE
Other receivables ot U R 371 363
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note (a))  FEUH B A 517 E (Kt (a)) 140,424 203,172
Bank balances and cash RITHEBEIR S 184,597 130,572
325,392 334,107
Current liability mENERE
Other payables Hoth FE A 5R0IR 8,534 9,048
Net current assets mENEEFE 316,858 325,059
316,876 325,420
Capital and reserves FR A R 1
Share capital [N 121,584 121,584
Reserves (Note (b)) 4 (B EE(b)) 195,292 203,836
316,876 325,420
Note (a):  The amounts are unsecured, non-trade in nature and repayable on fEG@) : ENEAEMIF  BIFESHHEERAR
demand, other than an amount of approximately HK$78,297,000 EREE - BR—ERE4)78,297,0007%
(2011: HK$131,297,000) (carries interest at 1% over Hong Kong TL(=ZF——*F : 131,297,000%70) 2
prime rate per annum), the remaining balances are interest-free. RE(REBXEBFANE LA1E

B9 BEHRRE
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43. THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 43. KA B Z AR R R @)
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Note (b):  Reserves MizE(b) :
Contributed Share
Share surplus options  Accumulated
premium (Note) reserve losses Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HABRH
REE (FiszE) BRERE 2itER @t
AT AT AT AR TER
At 1 January 2011 RZT——F—f—H 268,489 48,311 41,749 (159,561) 198,988
Total comprehensive expense for the year R 2 3 45 - - - (4,808) (4,808)
Issue of shares for acquisition of AKEHRBAF
subsidiaries (Note 33) MEATR (Fi7E33) 9,656 - - - 9,656
Effect of share options lapsed BREARZ FE = = (10,617) 10,617 =
At 31 December 2011 and R-B——F+=-f=1+-H
1 January 2012 k=F——F—f— 278,145 48,311 31,132 (153,752) 203,836
Total comprehensive expense for the year N2 ¥ A% - - - (8,544) (8,544)
At 31 December 2012 R-EB——F+-fA=+—-H1 278,145 48,311 31,132 (162,296) 195,292
Note: B3t
The contributed surplus of the Company represents the excess of the KRB ZEABBIEARTRD R
fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the —NNARFEBZFER EMAT - B
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on the BEAMBERBARZRNATE
Main Board of the Stock Exchange in 1996 over the nominal value of BHEERARRMEITZARRRME
the Company’s shares issued in exchange thereof. BZZE% -
Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the BREARE-NN—FRRE(EE
contributed surplus of the Company is available for distribution. i) RRBZHARBKAIHDIK -
However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend or make a HEARRTBETIERTEHAR
distribution out of contributed surplus if: BB IRSR R BBIEL DR
(a) itis, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities (@) ARARENIRIKNSEAGED
as they become due; or HRIPAE X
(b)  the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the (b) ARAREEZAZREENK
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share HEEREAERE  BREITRA

premium accounts. KRR An v (B IR 2 48N ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2012 HE=—F——F+=—HA=+—HIFZF

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 44, AA R X EH B A T 815
OF THE COMPANY

Nominal value of
issued and fully

Place of paid share Proportion of nominal value of issued
incorporation capital/ share capital/registered capital Principal
Name of subsidiaries and operation  registered capital held by the Company activities
BRIRAR KRR
RAEE/ BRARAEE/
WEAR R ERRIRE SIS HfER ERERLH) TEER
Directly Indirectly
E& B
2012 2011 2012 2011
% % % %
- £ ZB-Zf C-T——%
% % % %
Jet Air (Singapore) Singapore SGD500,000 - - 93 93 Air freight forwarding and
Private Limited brokers for airline and
shipping companies
RE(RR)BR AR g 500,000%7C EENRMERMEHLR
g
Jet-Air Hong Kong HK$200 - - 100 100 Trading of securities
D R 200%7T #HEE
Global Star Corporate Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 100 - - Trading of securities
Management Limited
REGRERARNT 3 10,0007 #5EE
Jet Dispatch Limited United States of UsD3,000 - - 100 100 Freight forwarding
America agent
FNBERE 3,000% 7T RERE
Gujiao City Hongxiang Coal PRC RMB50,000,000 - = 55 55 Manufacture and
Industry Co., Ltd." sales of coal
ERDERRFARAT E AR 50,000,000 EERHERR

* The English name is for identification purpose only. * EVEEEHRSE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2012 H{E=—F——4F+ A =+—HIFZF

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 44 K AT XEEMH B A BFHEE @)
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

All subsidiaries are companies incorporated with limited liability in FrAWE AR AT R EEE MK
the respective jurisdictions. SN ZBRRAF] -

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities subsisting at T 52 R 67 2 4 4 IR 280 5% PR 118 48 2 I A1
the end of both years or at any time during both years. e P 2 £ BB 1 ) (AR A B 2 1B 765
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the EERANEZAEENB AR ARNARE
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the RRERNEEEESIEEERTELE
results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries ZHBAR - RARESRRE © REEAM
would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in MEBAR .z EREREEBRRIIE

particulars of excessive length.
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HEBBHRE

RESULTS ¥iE

Year ended 31 December
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
BE+=-A=1+—HILEE
—E-—F ZT——F ZT-TF ZTThF ZTTN\F
FET FET FHT FHET FET

Revenue Wz 102,941 34,044 7,860 6,661 450,644
Profit (Loss) before tax BRE AT 7 (E51E) 9,161 6,852  (55,282) 6,319 13,092
Income tax expense FriSfiA (6,604) (1,231) (10) 43 (125)
Profit (Loss) for the year F T (EE) 2,557 5,621 (55,292) 6,362 12,967
(Loss) Profit attributable to: (E518)m A

R ZIE= Y

Owners for the Company ViN/NETEZ P =N (2,932) 5,896 (55,255) 6,362 12,967
Non-controlling interests FEPEARRE RS 5,489 (275) (37) = =
Profit (Loss) for the year FEREF (E5E) 2,557 5,621 (55,292) 6,362 12,967
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE

As at 31 December

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
R+t=—A=+—H

R _T——F _T-THF _TTNF _FT2N\F
FTET FET TET FET THET

Total assets BERE 447,765 466,097 335,183 389,130 402,684
Total liabilities BERRE (90,949) (112,522) (20,442) (19,775)  (38,266)

356,816 353,575 314,741 369,355 364,418

Equity attributable to Owners KARHEE A

of the Company FE(E RS 343,725 346,197 314,768 369,355 364,418
Non-controlling interests SRR M 2 13,091 7,378 (27) = =

356,816 353,575 314,741 369,355 364,418




WO UWHXBUUSB MMM - PBHWIT BIPSIN [BIOUBULY XONUSE) (UORONPOId '8 Buuid ‘ubiseq  [27 3 B B ¥ BB S - rgu(Wis - 232



~
CHINA BEST

E:: -
CHINA BEST GROUP HOLDING LIMITED

BEEREHIZERABRDSE



	Cover

	Contents
	Corporate Information
	Chairman’s Message
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Corporate Governance Report
	Directors and Senior Management
	Directors’ Report
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Five Year Financial Summary
	Inside Backcover

	Backcover



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (Japan Color 2001 Coated)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.6
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /sRGB
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness false
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
    /CFangSong-Light
    /CGuLi-Bold
    /CGuYin-Bold
    /CHei-UltraBold
    /CHei2-Bold
    /CHei2-Xbold
    /CHei3-Bold
    /CJNgai-Bold
    /CKan-Xbold
    /CNganKai-Bold
    /CO2Yuen-XboldOutline
    /COYuen-Xbold
    /COYuen-XboldOutline
    /CPo-Bold
    /CPo3-Bold
    /CSong3-Medium
    /CSu-Medium
    /CXLi-Medium
    /CXing-Medium
    /CXingKai-Bold
    /CYuen-SemiMedium
    /MBei-Bold
    /MHei-Bold
    /MHei-Light
    /MHei-Medium
    /MHei-Xbold
    /MKai-Medium
    /MKai-SemiBold
    /MLi-Bold
    /MNgai-Bold
    /MSung-Light
    /MSung-Medium
    /MSung-Xbold
    /MYuen-Light
    /MYuen-Medium
    /MYuen-Xbold
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages false
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 200
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.40
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages false
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 200
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.40
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages false
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 300
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<
    /CHT <>
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /BleedOffset [
        0
        0
        0
        0
      ]
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToRGB
      /DestinationProfileName (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
      /DestinationProfileSelector /UseName
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MarksOffset 0
      /MarksWeight 0.283460
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PageMarksFile /JapaneseWithCircle
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
    <<
      /AllowImageBreaks true
      /AllowTableBreaks true
      /ExpandPage false
      /HonorBaseURL true
      /HonorRolloverEffect false
      /IgnoreHTMLPageBreaks false
      /IncludeHeaderFooter false
      /MarginOffset [
        0
        0
        0
        0
      ]
      /MetadataAuthor ()
      /MetadataKeywords ()
      /MetadataSubject ()
      /MetadataTitle ()
      /MetricPageSize [
        0
        0
      ]
      /MetricUnit /inch
      /MobileCompatible 0
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (GoLive)
        (8.0)
      ]
      /OpenZoomToHTMLFontSize false
      /PageOrientation /Portrait
      /RemoveBackground false
      /ShrinkContent true
      /TreatColorsAs /MainMonitorColors
      /UseEmbeddedProfiles false
      /UseHTMLTitleAsMetadata true
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [600 600]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


